

# Fun with F<inf>24</inf>

Downloaded from: https://research.chalmers.se, 2021-08-31 12:11 UTC

Citation for the original published paper (version of record): Harrison, S., Paquette, N., Persson, D. et al (2021) Fun with F<inf>24</inf> Journal of High Energy Physics, 2021(2) http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP02(2021)039

N.B. When citing this work, cite the original published paper.

research.chalmers.se offers the possibility of retrieving research publications produced at Chalmers University of Technology. It covers all kind of research output: articles, dissertations, conference papers, reports etc. since 2004. research.chalmers.se is administrated and maintained by Chalmers Library

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: October 6, 2020 ACCEPTED: December 18, 2020 PUBLISHED: February 3, 2021

# Fun with F<sub>24</sub>

# Sarah M. Harrison,<sup>*a,b*</sup> Natalie M. Paquette,<sup>*c,d*</sup> Daniel Persson<sup>*e*</sup> and Roberto Volpato<sup>*f*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Mathematics and Statistics, McGill University, Burnside Hall, 805 Sherbrooke St W, Montréal, Quebec H3A 2K6, Canada
<sup>b</sup> Department of Physics, McGill University, Ernest Rutherford Physics Building, 3600 Rue University, Montréal, QC H3A 2T8, Canada
<sup>c</sup> Walter Burke Institute for Theoretical Physics, California Institute of Technology, 1200 E California Blvd, Pasadena, CA 91125, U.S.A.
<sup>d</sup> School of Natural Sciences, Institute for Advanced Study, 1 Einstein Drive, Princeton, NJ 08540, U.S.A.
<sup>e</sup> Department of Mathematical Sciences, University of Gothenburg and Chalmers University of Technology, Chalmers Tvargata 3, Gothenburg SE-412 96, Sweden
<sup>f</sup> Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia 'Galileo Galilei', Università di Padova & INFN, sezione di Padova, Via Marzolo 8, Padova 35131, Italy
E-mail: sarharr@physics.mcgill.ca, paquette@ias.edu, danper@chalmers.se, volpato@pd.infn.it

ABSTRACT: We study some special features of  $F_{24}$ , the holomorphic c = 12 superconformal field theory (SCFT) given by 24 chiral free fermions. We construct eight different Lie superalgebras of "physical" states of a chiral superstring compactified on  $F_{24}$ , and we prove that they all have the structure of Borcherds-Kac-Moody superalgebras. This produces a family of new examples of such superalgebras. The models depend on the choice of an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent on  $F_{24}$ , with the admissible choices labeled by the semisimple Lie algebras of dimension 24. We also discuss how  $F_{24}$ , with any such choice of supercurrent, can be obtained via orbifolding from another distinguished c = 12 holomorphic SCFT, the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supersymmetric version of the chiral CFT based on the  $E_8$  lattice.

KEYWORDS: Conformal and W Symmetry, Conformal Field Models in String Theory, Conformal Field Theory, BRST Quantization

ARXIV EPRINT: 2009.14710



# Contents

1	Introduction			
<b>2</b>	The SVOA and its $\mathcal{N} = 1$ structures	4		
	2.1 Construction	4		
	2.2 Partition functions	7		
3	$F_{24}$ from orbifolds of $V^{fE_8}$	10		
	3.1 Generalities	11		
	3.2 Examples	14		
4	BKM superalgebras from $\mathcal{N}=1$ SVOAs: a general construction	16		
	4.1 Super vertex algebras	17		
	4.2 BRST cohomology	20		
	4.3 Lie superalgebra of physical states	23		
<b>5</b>	The Lie superalgebra ${\mathfrak g}$ as a Borcherds-Kac-Moody superalgebra	27		
	5.1 Generalities on BKM superalgebras	27		
	5.2 Proof that $\mathfrak{g}$ is a BKM superalgebra	28		
	5.3 Simple roots and Weyl vector	30		
	5.4 Denominator and superdenominator	32		
6	The example of $g = A_1^8$	34		
	6.1 Construction	34		
	6.2 Description of real roots	34		
	6.3 Weyl group	35		
	6.4 Root multiplicities and denominator formulas	36		
7	Conclusions & future directions			
$\mathbf{A}$	Multivariable Jacobi forms			
в	Details about cohomology 4			

# 1 Introduction

Quantum field theories of two dimensional fermions are among the simplest to write down, and nevertheless have remarkably rich physics. For example, perhaps the simplest 2d conformal field theory (CFT), the critical point of the 2d Ising model, can be described in terms of a free Majorana fermion. More elaborate fermionic CFTs appear as edge modes in quantum Hall systems [53], as well as in the classification of symmetry-protected topological (SPT) phases [49]. Two-dimensional Bose-Fermi duality also relates fermionic CFTs to lattice CFTs of bosons, which appear in, e.g., toroidal compactifications of string theory. Recent works on dualities have also shed light on subtle discrete invariants required to understand the rich physics of two dimensional fermions [37–39].

In this paper, we will rather emphasize intricate Lie algebraic structures hidden in the deceptively simple physics of 2d free fermions.<sup>1</sup> As has been emphasized in several corners of the mathematical physics landscape (see, to give an incomplete list, [24, 25, 54] and references therein), systems with certain distinguished numbers of fermions can enjoy special properties and intertwine with several species of modular objects; our interest will be in various symmetry structures present in a system of 24 chiral fermions and some associated automorphic forms.

In this paper we study a system of 24 free chiral fermions in 2d. This is a holomorphic superconformal field theory, or super-vertex operator algebra (SVOA), with central charge 12 and which we refer to throughout as  $F_{24}$ . It is notable because it is one of three so-called self-dual SVOAs with central charge 12.<sup>2</sup> These theories were classified in [15] and are given by (up to isomorphism):

- 1.  $V^{fE_8}$ : this is the theory of 8 chiral bosons compactified on  $\mathbb{R}^8/\Lambda_{E_8}$ , where  $\Lambda_{E_8}$  is the  $E_8$  root lattice, and their 8 fermionic superpartners.
- 2.  $V^{f^{\dagger}}$ : this is the unique holomorphic SCFT with c = 12 and no weight-1/2 fields. First discussed in [18], it has a unique  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superconformal structure which is stabilized by Conway's largest sporadic group.
- 3.  $F_{24}$ : this is a theory of 24 free chiral fermions. One can build an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superconformal structure by taking a linear combination of cubic Fermi terms, and the allowed choices are classified by semisimple Lie algebras of dimension 24. Each of these generates an affine Kac-Moody algebra, of which there are eight possibilities:

$$\begin{array}{l} (\widehat{su}(2)_2)^{\oplus 8} \,, \quad (\widehat{su}(3)_3)^{\oplus 3} \,, \quad \widehat{su}(4)_4 \oplus (\widehat{su}(2)_2)^{\oplus 3} \,, \quad \widehat{su}(5)_5 \,, \quad \widehat{so}(5)_3 \oplus \widehat{g}_{2,4} \,, \\ \widehat{so}(5)_3 \oplus \widehat{su}(3)_3 \oplus (\widehat{su}(2)_2)^{\oplus 2} \,, \quad \widehat{so}(7)_5 \oplus \widehat{su}(2)_2 \,, \quad \widehat{sp}(6)_4 \oplus \widehat{su}(2)_2 \,, \end{array}$$

which we describe in section 2.

On the face of it, these three theories are quite different — they have notably different constructions and symmetry groups. However, as is described in [2, 15, 18, 19] and section 3, by gauging symmetries, one can move from one to the other. Furthermore, in [48] and [31], respectively, the theories  $V^{fE_8}$  and  $V^{f\natural}$  have been used to furnish constructions of a special type of infinite-dimensional Lie superalgebra known as a Borcherds-Kac-Moody (BKM) superalgebra. BKM algebras were originally introduced by Borcherds [7] in his proof of the monstrous moonshine conjectures of Conway and Norton [14], and Thompson [51, 52].<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Interesting work in a similar spirit appeared recently in [55], which studied quantum mechanical fermions valued in (gauged) Lie algebras.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>A self-dual SVOA W is one that is rational and the unique irreducible W-module (up to isomorphism). <sup>3</sup>For reviews of moonshine, see, e.g., [1, 21].

The monster BKM arises from BRST quantization of a chiral bosonic string theory and elucidates connections between modular functions, the monster sporadic simple group, and the physics of 2d CFT.

One of the goals of the present paper is to describe the construction of a family of BKM superalgebras based on the theory  $F_{24}$ , similar to the constructions of BKM superalgebras based on  $V^{fE_8}$  and  $V^{f\natural}$  mentioned above. For each choice of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superconformal structure for  $F_{24}$  we construct a corresponding BKM superalgebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  with Kac-Moody symmetry determined by the choice of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent. The main results of this work are threefold:

- We show that all choices of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure on  $F_{24}$  can be obtained from orbifolds of the SVOA  $V^{fE_8}$  (see section 3),
- We prove that the Lie superalgebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  satisfies the conditions of a BKM superalgebra (see theorem 2 in section 4.3),
- We provide an infinite product formula for the Borcherds-Weyl-Kac denominator for each g (see section 5.4).

Besides the fact that we construct a new family of examples of (super)-BKM algebras, of which there are only very few explicit constructions, one of our long-term interests is to elucidate the connection between BKM algebras and BPS states in string theory, which was originally envisaged by Harvey and Moore [32, 33]. They suggested that BPS states in string and field theories with extended supersymmetry should form an algebra, and that — at least in some contexts — this algebra would be a generalized<sup>4</sup> Kac-Moody algebra (or contain one as a subalgebra).

An interesting example of this proposal, similar in spirit to the present study, was studied by the last three named authors [42, 43], where it was found that *spacetime* BPS states in a second quantized heterotic string theory furnished a natural module over the Monster BKM.<sup>5</sup> The worldsheet string theory for this construction employed the Monster vertex operator algebra  $V^{\natural}$ , and the construction has been used to shed light on the physical interpretation of the genus zero property of monstrous moonshine. Similarly, the theories  $V^{fE_8}, V^{f\natural}, F_{24}$  all naturally occur as (chiral halves) of worldsheet CFTs at special points in the moduli space of maximally supersymmetric type II string compactifications to 2d. We expect that the BKM superalgebras constructed in [31, 48], and this paper, occur as algebras acting on spacetime BPS states at such special points. This is a notion we make precise in upcoming work [30]. Furthermore, given the close relation between  $V^{f\natural}, V^{fE8}, F_{24}$ via orbifolding, by analogy with the constructions in [42, 44, 45] we expect that we may uncover new 2d spacetime string dualities by considering worldsheet theories which are a tensor product  $V \otimes \overline{W}$  with V, W taken to be one of these theories.

The outline of the rest of the paper is as follows. In section 2, we review the construction of  $F_{24}$ , its canonically-twisted module  $F_{24}^{tw}$ , the allowed choices of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>That is, a Borcherds-Kac-Moody algebra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See also [13] for a proposal for the appearance of a BKM algebra in string theory in a quite different context, building on the pioneering results of [17].

its character. In section 3, we describe how  $F_{24}$  with a choice of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure can be obtained from orbifolds of the SVOA  $V^{fE_8}$ . In section 4 we explain the general construction of BKM superalgebras from  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SVOAs. We then go on to construct a family of BKM superalgebras  $\mathfrak{g}$  from  $F_{24}$  with a choice of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superconformal structure. In section 5 we prove our main theorem, showing that  $\mathfrak{g}$  is a super BKM-algebra. In this section we also discuss the denominator and super denominator formulas of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . We give more details on the example with  $\hat{A}_1^8$  Kac-Moody symmetry in the following section 6. We conclude with a brief discussion of open questions in section 7. Finally, two appendices provide further details about multivariable Jacobi forms (section A) and the relative BRST cohomology for physical states in our theories (section B).

# 2 The SVOA and its $\mathcal{N} = 1$ structures

## 2.1 Construction

The starting point of our construction is a simple holomorphic chiral superconformal field theory (SCFT)  $F_{24}$  of central charge c = 12, given by 24 chiral free fermions. In mathematical language, this is a self-dual  $C_2$ -cofinite super vertex operator algebra (SVOA) of CFT type of central charge 12. In our definition of SCFT (or SVOA) we do not include the choice of an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  subalgebra. For this reason, we refer to  $F_{24}$  as a single SVOA, even though, as discussed below, it admits different  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structures.

This theory is generated by 24 chiral free fermions,  $\lambda^1(z), \ldots, \lambda^{24}(z)$ , with OPE

$$\lambda^{i}(z)\lambda^{j}(w) \sim \frac{\delta^{ij}}{z-w},$$
(2.1)

and stress-energy tensor,

$$T(z) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{24} : \lambda^{i} \partial \lambda^{i} : (z) , \qquad (2.2)$$

with respect to which  $\lambda^i$  have conformal weight 1/2. The  $\binom{24}{2} = 276$  currents  $\lambda_i \lambda_j$ ,  $1 \leq i < j \leq 24$ , generate an  $\widehat{so}(24)_1$  Kac-Moody algebra, which is the bosonic (even) subVOA of  $F_{24}$ . By bosonization, the same SVOA can be described as a lattice model based on the odd unimodular lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^{12}$ , with the  $\widehat{so}(24)_1$  algebra corresponding to the  $D_{12}$  sublattice. The space of odd (fermionic) states in  $F_{24}$  form a vector module for the  $\widehat{so}(24)_1$  algebra.

 $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structures in free fermion theories were classified in [26]. An  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent must be a linear combination of conformal primaries of weight 3/2, so it must be of the form

$$G = -\frac{i}{6} \sum_{i,j,k} c_{ijk} : \lambda^i \lambda^j \lambda^k :$$
(2.3)

for some totally antisymmetric  $c_{ijk} \in \mathbb{C}$ . The stress tensor (2.2) and the supercurrent G(z) defined by (2.3) generate an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superconformal algebra at central charge 12 if and only if the following conditions are satisfied [26]:

$$\sum_{k} (c_{ijk}c_{klm} + c_{lik}c_{kjm} + c_{jlk}c_{kim}) = 0, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$\sum_{k,l} c_{ikl} c_{jkl} = 2\delta_{ij} \,. \tag{2.5}$$

The first condition is equivalent to the requirement that the G(z)G(0) OPE does not contain any singular term with four fermions  $\lambda\lambda\lambda\lambda$ ; the second is equivalent to the requirement that the  $z^{-1}$  term in the OPE reproduces the stress-energy tensor T(z).

These conditions imply that  $c_{ijk}$  are the structure constants of a semisimple Lie algebra g of dimension 24 (and any rank), i.e. g is the complex Lie algebra generated by  $t^1, \ldots, t^{24}$  with commutation relations

$$[t^j, t^k] = ic_{jkl}t^l . aga{2.6}$$

Given a choice of  $c_{ijk}$  satisfying (2.4) and (2.5), the 24 currents

$$J^{a}(z) = -\frac{i}{2} \sum_{j,k=1}^{24} c_{ajk} : \lambda_{j} \lambda_{k} : (z) , \qquad a = 1, \dots, 24, \qquad (2.7)$$

satisfy the OPE

$$J^{a}(z)J^{b}(0) = \frac{\delta_{ab}}{z^{2}} + \frac{i}{z}\sum_{k=1}^{24} c_{abk}J^{k}(0) + \dots, \qquad (2.8)$$

which shows that the  $J^a(z)$  generate an affine Kac-Moody algebra  $\hat{g}$  based on the finite Lie algebra g. Thus, g is a 24-dimensional subalgebra of the  $\widehat{so}(24)$  algebra generated by the zero modes of fermion bilinears  $\lambda^i \lambda^j$ . The OPEs

$$G(z)\lambda^{a}(0) = \frac{J^{a}(0)}{z} + \dots, \text{ and}$$
 (2.9)

$$J^{a}(z)\lambda^{b}(0) = \frac{i}{z}\sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{abk}\lambda^{k}(0) + \dots$$
 (2.10)

show that the currents  $J^a(z)$  are singled out as the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  descendants of the 24 free fermions  $\lambda^a$ , while the remaining 252 currents are superconformal primaries. Furthermore, the free fermions  $\lambda^a$  transform in the adjoint representation with respect to the algebra gof zero modes.

The SVOA admits a canonical non-degenerate invariant bilinear form  $(\cdot|\cdot)$ , given by the Zamolodchikov metric. By (2.8), the set of currents  $\{J^a\}_{a=1,\dots,24}$  is orthonormal with respect to this bilinear form. In the following sections, we will need to choose a normalization for the Cartan-Killing form  $(\cdot|\cdot)_g$  on the finite dimensional Lie algebra g. It is convenient to choose

$$(t|u)_g = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(\operatorname{Ad}(t)\operatorname{Ad}(u)).$$
(2.11)

With this choice, the Cartan-Killing form  $(\cdot|\cdot)_g$  on the algebra of zero modes  $J_0^a$  coincides with the bilinear form induced by the Zamolodchikov metric, since

$$(J_0^a|J_0^b)_g = \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr}(\operatorname{Ad}(J_0^a)\operatorname{Ad}(J_0^b)) = -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j,k=1}^n c_{ajk}c_{bkj} = \delta_{ab}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where we used (2.5) and that  $\operatorname{Ad}(J_0^a)_{jk} = -ic_{ajk}$  in the basis  $\{J_0^a\}$ . In the following, we will often drop the subscript g on the Killing form. Notice that if g is a direct sum of simple components  $g = \bigoplus_i g_i$ , where  $g_i$  has dual Coxeter number  $h_{g_i}^{\vee}$ , then the restriction of the Killing form to  $g_i$  is such that the long roots have square length  $2/h_{g_i}^{\vee}$ .

In terms of modes  $J^a(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} J_n^a z^{-n-1}$ , the OPE (2.8) yields the commutation relations

$$[J_n^a, J_m^b] = n\delta^{ab}\delta_{m,-n} + i\sum_c c_{abc}J_{m+n}^c.$$
 (2.13)

We recall that, for an affine Kac-Moody algebra  $\hat{g}'_k$  based on a *simple* algebra g' at level k, the commutation relations read

$$[t_n, u_m] = k \frac{(t|u)_{g'}}{h_{g'}^{\vee}} \delta^{ab} \delta_{m, -n} + (\mathrm{Ad}(t).u)_{n+m}, \qquad (2.14)$$

when the Killing form is normalized as in (2.11).<sup>6</sup> Comparing these equations, we see that if g is the sum  $g = \bigoplus_i g_i$  of simple components of dual Coxeter number  $h_{g_i}^{\vee}$ , the affine algebra  $\hat{g}$  is given by

$$\hat{g} = \bigoplus_i (\hat{g}_i)_{h_{a_i}^{\vee}}, \qquad (2.15)$$

i.e. the levels of the simple components equal the dual Coxeter numbers.<sup>7</sup>

For dim g = 24, there are eight distinct possibilities for g:

 $A_1^8, \quad A_2^3, \quad A_3 A_1^3, \quad A_4, \quad B_2 G_2, \quad B_2 A_2 A_1^2, \quad B_3 A_1, \quad C_3 A_1.$  (2.16)

The corresponding affine algebras are,

$$\hat{A}_{1,2}^{8}, \quad \hat{A}_{2,3}^{3}, \quad \hat{A}_{3,4}\hat{A}_{1,2}^{3}, \quad \hat{A}_{4,5}, \quad \hat{B}_{2,3}\hat{G}_{2,4}, \quad \hat{B}_{2,3}\hat{A}_{2,3}\hat{A}_{1,2}^{2}, \quad \hat{B}_{3,5}\hat{A}_{1,2}, \quad \hat{C}_{3,4}\hat{A}_{1,2},$$
(2.17)

that is,

$$(\widehat{su}(2)_2)^{\oplus 8}, \quad (\widehat{su}(3)_3)^{\oplus 3}, \quad \widehat{su}(4)_4 \oplus (\widehat{su}(2)_2)^{\oplus 3}, \quad \widehat{su}(5)_5, \quad \widehat{so}(5)_3 \oplus \widehat{g}_{2,4}, \qquad (2.18)$$

$$\widehat{so}(5)_3 \oplus \widehat{su}(3)_3 \oplus (\widehat{su}(2)_2)^{\oplus 2}, \quad \widehat{so}(7)_5 \oplus \widehat{su}(2)_2, \quad \widehat{sp}(6)_4 \oplus \widehat{su}(2)_2.$$

Finally, this SVOA admits a unique (up to isomorphism) canonically twisted module  $F_{24}^{tw}$ , which also admits an invariant non-degenerate bilinear form ( $\cdot$ | $\cdot$ ). Using the string theory terminology, we will often refer to the SVOA  $F_{24}$  as the Neveu-Schwarz (NS) sector and to its twisted module as the Ramond (R) sector. Recall that the even subalgebra of  $F_{24}$  is the bosonic lattice VOA  $V_{D_{12}}$  based on the  $D_{12}$  lattice. This VOA  $V_{D_{12}}$  has four irreducible modules which are in one-to-one correspondence with the cosets  $D_{12}^*/D_{12}$ . We can label the four modules as 'adjoint', 'vector', 'spinor' and 'conjugate spinor' in terms of their so(24) representations. While  $F_{24}$  is given by the direct sum of the adjoint and vector

$$[t_n, u_m] = k \frac{|\theta|^2}{2} (t|u) \delta^{ab} \delta_{m,-n} + (\operatorname{Ad}(t).u)_{n+m},$$

where  $|\theta|^2$  is the length of the long roots. With the choice (2.11) for the normalization, one has  $|\theta|^2 = \frac{2}{h_{g'}^{\vee}}$ , hence the formula.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>More generally, the relations are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The same conclusion can be reached by noticing that, for a simple algebra g', the dual Coxeter number is the embedding index of  $g' \subset so(\dim g')$ . The embedding index is the ratio of the levels for the corresponding embedding of affine algebras. Since dim g' fermions generate an algebra  $\hat{so}(\dim g')_q$  at level 1, we have that  $\hat{g}'$  must have level  $h_{\phi'}^{\vee}$ .

 $V_{D_{12}}$ -modules, the canonically twisted module can be identified with the direct sum of the two spinor  $V_{D_{12}}$ -modules, with opposite fermion number. This description immediately shows that the lowest conformal weight in the Ramond sector is 3/2, and in particular there are no states of weight 1/2. For any choice of the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent G(z), the relation  $G_0^2 = L_0 - \frac{1}{2}$  implies that the zero mode  $G_0$  has zero kernel in the Ramond sector, and therefore establishes an isomorphism between the components with positive and negative fermion number.

#### 2.2 Partition functions

In this section, we compute the partition functions of the SVOA  $F_{24}$  (NS sector) and its canonically twisted module  $F_{24}^{tw}$  (R sector).

First we describe our notation. Let us choose a Cartan subalgebra h of the Lie algebra g and let  $g = g_- \oplus h \oplus g_+$  be a triangular decomposition. Let  $\Delta^+ \subset h^* \cong \mathbb{C}^r$  be the set of positive roots, where  $r = \operatorname{rank}(g)$  is the rank of  $g, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_r \in h^*$  be the simple roots, and  $\alpha_1^{\vee}, \ldots, \alpha_r^{\vee} \in h$  be the coroots. We normalize the Killing form  $(\cdot|\cdot)_g$  as in (2.11) so that the long roots in each simple component g' of g have length-squared  $2/h_{g'}^{\vee}$ , where  $h_{g'}^{\vee}$  is the dual Coxeter number of g'. We denote by  $Q_g = \sum_i \mathbb{Z}\alpha_i \subset h^*$  the root lattice, by  $Q_q^{\vee} = \sum_i \mathbb{Z}\alpha_i^{\vee} \subset h$  the coroot lattice and by

$$P_g \equiv (Q_q^{\vee})^* = \{ w \in h^* \mid w(\alpha_i^{\vee}) \in \mathbb{Z}, \forall i \}$$

$$(2.19)$$

its dual lattice (the weight lattice).<sup>8</sup> The Killing form (2.5) defines an isomorphism  $i: h \to h^*$ , which we often keep implicit, simply identifying h and  $h^*$ . With this Killing form, the coroot lattice  $Q_q^{\vee}$  is even, so that  $i(Q_q^{\vee}) \subset P_q$ .<sup>9</sup>

We can choose the basis vectors of the SVOA to be simultaneous eigenstates of  $L_0$ and of the Cartan generators  $(\alpha_1^{\vee}, \ldots, \alpha_r^{\vee})$  of g. The *r*-tuple of eigenvalues (the charges) for  $(\alpha_1^{\vee}, \ldots, \alpha_r^{\vee})$  is a weight  $w \equiv (w_1, \ldots, w_r) \in P_g$ . To keep track of both the  $L_0$  and heigenvalues, we introduce characters depending on  $\tau \in \mathbb{H}$  and on  $\xi \in h \cong \mathbb{C}^r$ , namely:

$$\phi_{NS}(\tau,\xi) = Tr_{NS}\left(q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}e^{2\pi i\xi}\right) = \sum_{n \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{w \in P_g} c_{NS}(n,w)q^n e^{2\pi i(\xi|w)}, \qquad (2.20)$$

$$\phi_{\widetilde{NS}}(\tau,\xi) = Tr_{NS}\left(q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}e^{2\pi i\xi}(-1)^F\right) = \sum_{n \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{w \in P_g} (-1)^{2n+1} c_{\widetilde{NS}}(n,w) q^n e^{2\pi i(\xi|w)} \,, \quad (2.21)$$

$$\phi_R(\tau,\xi) = Tr_R\left(q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}e^{2\pi i\xi}\right) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{w \in P_g} c_R(n,w) q^n e^{2\pi i(\xi|w)}, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$\phi_{\tilde{R}}(\tau,\xi) = Tr_R\left(q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}e^{2\pi i\xi}(-1)^F\right) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{w \in P_g} c_{\tilde{R}}(n,w)q^n e^{2\pi i(\xi|w)}.$$
(2.23)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Occasionally, when it is clear from context which g we are studying, we will omit the subscript on the root, coroot and weight lattices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>We notice that the isomorphism *i* depends on the normalization of the Killing form, which is not completely standard (long roots do not have length 2, but  $2/h_g^{\vee}$ ). For example, for su(2), the root has length 2/2 = 1, so that one can identify  $Q_g = \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $P_g = \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$  and  $i(Q_g^{\vee}) = 2\mathbb{Z}$ .

A direct calculation then gives (here  $\rho = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta^+} \alpha \in P_g$  denotes the Weyl vector of g):

$$\phi_{\widetilde{NS}}(\tau,\xi) = q^{-1/2} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[ \left( 1 - q^{n-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^r \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_+} \left( 1 - q^{n-\frac{1}{2}} e^{2\pi i(\xi|\alpha)} \right) \left( 1 - q^{n-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-2\pi i(\xi|\alpha)} \right) \right]$$
$$= \frac{\theta_4(\tau,0)^{r/2} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_+} \theta_4(\tau,(\xi|\alpha))}{\eta(\tau)^{12}}$$
(2.24)

$$\phi_{NS}(\tau,\xi) = q^{-1/2} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[ \left( 1 + q^{n-\frac{1}{2}} \right)^r \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_+} \left( 1 + q^{n-\frac{1}{2}} e^{2\pi i (\xi|\alpha)} \right) \left( 1 + q^{n-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-2\pi i (\xi|\alpha)} \right) \right]$$
$$= \frac{\theta_3(\tau,0)^{r/2} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_+} \theta_3(\tau,(\xi|\alpha))}{\eta(\tau)^{12}}$$
(2.25)

$$\phi_R(\tau,\xi) = e^{-2\pi i(\xi|\rho)} 2^{\frac{r}{2}} q \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} (1+q^m)^r \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_+} \left[ \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} \left( 1+q^n e^{2\pi i(\xi|\alpha)} \right) \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} \left( 1+q^k e^{-2\pi i(\xi|\alpha)} \right) \right]$$

$$=\frac{\theta_2(\tau,0)^{r/2}\prod_{\alpha\in\Delta_+}\theta_2(\tau,(\xi|\alpha))}{\eta(\tau)^{12}} = 2^{\frac{r}{2}}\frac{\eta(2\tau)^r\prod_{\alpha\in\Delta_+}\theta_2(\tau,(\xi|\alpha))}{\eta(\tau)^{12+r/2}},$$
(2.26)

and

$$\phi_{\tilde{R}}(\tau,\xi) = 0. \tag{2.27}$$

See appendix A for the definition of the multivariable theta functions.

The last equality follows because, as discussed above, ker  $G_0 = 0$  so that the Ramond spaces with positive and negative fermion number are isomorphic. In this computation, we use the fact that the Ramond ground states form a  $2^{12}$ -dimensional representation of the algebra g, which is isomorphic to the direct sum of  $2^{r/2}$  copies of the representation  $L_{\rho}$ whose highest weight is the Weyl vector  $\rho$ . In particular, dim  $L_{\rho} = 2^N$ , with N = (24-r)/2being the number of positive roots. To show this, we first notice that the space of ground states forms an irreducible module for the Clifford algebra of fermionic zero modes. Using this description, it is easy to check that the difference between the highest and the lowest weights in this representation is the sum over the positive roots, i.e.  $2\rho$ , and that the multiplicity of either the lowest or highest weight is  $2^{r/2}$ : the space of highest weight vectors is itself a module for the Clifford subalgebra of r fermionic zero modes corresponding to the Cartan generators of g. Finally, this g-representation must be self-conjugate, because the canonically twisted module of  $F_{24}$  is unique, so it must be isomorphic to its dual. Thus, the highest weight must be the opposite of the lowest, and therefore equal to  $\rho$ .

In the following, we also need the linear combinations

$$\phi_{NS\pm}(\tau,\xi) = Tr_{NS}\left(q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}e^{2\pi i\xi}\frac{1\pm(-1)^F}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{2}(\phi_{NS}(\tau,\xi)\pm\phi_{\widetilde{NS}}(\tau,\xi))$$
(2.28)

and

$$\phi_{R\pm}(\tau,\xi) = Tr_R\left(q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}e^{2\pi i\xi}\frac{1\pm(-1)^F}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\phi_R(\tau,\xi)\,,\qquad(2.29)$$

giving the partition functions on the eigenspaces of the fermion number.

As shown in appendix A, these functions admit a Fourier expansion

$$\phi_X(\tau,\xi) = \sum_n \sum_{w \in P_g} c_X(n,w) q^n e^{2\pi i(\xi|w)} , \qquad (2.30)$$

where  $X \in \{NS, NS, R, \tilde{R}, NS\pm, R\pm\}$ , and the sum over *n* is over integers in the Ramond sector or when X = NS-, and over half-integers in all other cases. The sum over *w* can be reduced to a sum over the root lattice  $Q_g \subset P_g$  in the NS sector, or over the coset  $\rho + Q_g \subset P_g$  in the R sector. More generally, the sum over *w* can be restricted to

$$\tilde{Q}_g := Q_g \cup (\rho + Q_g). \tag{2.31}$$

In appendix A we show that the coefficients  $c_X(n, w)$  depend on n and  $w \in P_g$  only through the discriminant

$$D = 2n - (w|w)_g \tag{2.32}$$

and on the class [w] of w in  $P_g/i(Q_g^{\vee})$ ; we will sometimes write  $c_X(n, w) \equiv c_X(D, [w])$  to emphasize this dependence.

In particular, when  $X \in \{NS-, R\pm\}$ , the coefficients  $c_X(n, w)$  are non-zero only when

$$c_X(n,w) \neq 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \begin{cases} n \ge 0\\ 2n - (w|w)_g \ge -m([w]), \end{cases}$$
(2.33)

where

$$m([w]) = \min\{(w'|w') \mid w' \in w + i(Q_g^{\vee})\}$$
(2.34)

is the minimal square length of vectors in the coset  $w + i(Q_g^{\vee})$ . Since there are only a finite number of cosets in  $P_g/i(Q_g^{\vee})$ , we can also give a bound on the discriminant that is independent of the class of w,

$$c_X(n,w) \neq 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \begin{cases} n \ge 0\\ 2n - (w|w)_g \ge -M \end{cases}, \tag{2.35}$$

where

$$M = \max_{[w] \in P_g/i(Q_g^{\vee})} m([w]).$$
(2.36)

Finally, for n = 0, one has

$$c_{NS-}(0,w) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } w \text{ is a root of } g \\ r & \text{if } w = 0 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.37)

while  $c_{R\pm}(0, w) = 0$  for all  $w \in P_g$ , given the absence of Ramond states of weight 1/2.

The coefficients  $c_{NS-}$  and  $c_{R\pm}$  will correspond to the (respectively, even and odd) root multiplicities for the BKM superalgebra that we will construct in section 4.

If we set all  $\xi = 0$ , we get the same formulas for all choices of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure, namely

$$\phi_{NS}(\tau,0) = \operatorname{Tr}_{NS}\left(q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}\right) = -\frac{\eta\left(\frac{\tau+1}{2}\right)^{24}}{\eta(\tau)^{24}} = q^{1/2} + 24 + 276q^{1/2} + 2048q + \dots$$
(2.38)

$$\phi_{\widetilde{NS}}(\tau,0) = \operatorname{Tr}_{NS}\left((-1)^F q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}\right) = \frac{\eta(\tau/2)^{24}}{\eta(\tau)^{24}} = q^{1/2} - 24 + 276q^{1/2} - 2048q + \dots \quad (2.39)$$

$$\phi_R(\tau,0) = \operatorname{Tr}_R\left(q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}\right) = 2^{12} \frac{\eta(2\tau)^{24}}{\eta(\tau)^{24}} = 4096q + 98304q^2 + \dots$$
(2.40)

$$\phi_{\tilde{R}}(\tau,0) = \operatorname{Tr}_{R}\left((-1)^{F} q^{L_{0}-\frac{c}{24}}\right) = 0.$$
(2.41)

In particular,

$$\phi_{NS-}(\tau,0) = 24 + 2048q + 49152q^2 + \dots$$
(2.42)

and

$$\phi_{R+}(\tau,0) = \phi_{R-}(\tau,0) = 2048q + 49152q^2 + \dots$$
 (2.43)

showing that  $\phi_{NS-}(\tau, 0) = \phi_{R\pm}(\tau, 0) + 24.$ 

Having established some basic properties of the  $F_{24}$  SVOA, we will next explain how one can obtain this theory, including the choice of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure, via orbifolds of  $V^{fE_8}$ . Though we do not undertake a full string theoretic construction in this work (though see [30]), the orbifolds discussed in the next section will be a precursor to various spacetime dualities relating string theories with different perturbative worldsheet descriptions based upon the c = 12 self-dual SVOAs.

# 3 $F_{24}$ from orbifolds of $V^{fE_8}$

In [15] it was shown that the SVOA  $F_{24}$  can be obtained from the SVOAs  $V^{fE_8}$  or  $V^{f\natural}$ by an orbifold by a cyclic group of symmetries. However, in both cases, this group of symmetries did not preserve the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent of  $V^{fE_8}$  or  $V^{f\natural}$ . As a consequence, when  $F_{24}$  is constructed in this way, there is no  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superconformal structure inherited from the original SVOA. This raises the question whether  $F_{24}$  with a given choice of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal structure can be obtained from  $V^{fE_8}$  or  $V^{f\natural}$  by an orbifold procedure, where the group of symmetries we quotient by preserves the superconformal current of  $V^{fE_8}$  or  $V^{f\natural}$ , and the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure on  $F_{24}$  is exactly the one induced by the parent theory. In this section, we will show that all choices of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure on  $F_{24}$  can be obtained from the  $V^{fE_8}$  SVOA.

This result is interesting in view of the correspondence between chiral vertex operator superalgebras and non-chiral  $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$  supersymmetric nonlinear sigma models proposed in [2, 12, 15, 20, 50]. In particular, in [2] it was shown that there is a certain set of supersymmetry preserving automorphisms of  $V^{fE_8}$  that are closely related to symmetries of supersymmetric sigma models on  $T^4$ , and that the orbifold of  $V^{fE_8}$  by any such automorphism is either the SVOA  $V^{f\natural}$  or  $V^{fE_8}$ . Similar relationships between the chiral SVOA  $V^{s\natural}$  with c = 12 (essentially  $V^{f\natural}$ ) and the non-chiral  $\mathcal{N} = (4, 4)$  K3 sigma models with  $c = \bar{c} = 6$  have also been explored in previous works [12, 20]; in [15, 50], it was shown that they can be related via a certain reflection procedure. Here, we show that  $V^{fE_8}$  admits some further  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  preserving automorphisms for which the orbifold is  $F_{24}$ . It would be very interesting to understand what the meaning of this result is on the sigma model side of the correspondence.

#### 3.1 Generalities

Let us show that each choice of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure on  $F_{24}$  can be obtained from an orbifold of the  $E_8$  SVOA  $V^{fE_8}$ , with its standard  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure, by a symmetry that commutes with the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent. Let  $\psi^i$ ,  $\partial X^i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 8$ , and  $V_\lambda$ ,  $\lambda \in E_8$  be the fields of weights 1/2, 1, and  $\lambda^2/2$ , respectively, generating  $V^{fE_8}$ . The standard  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent is  $G \sim :\sum_i \psi^i \partial X^i$ : (up to normalization).

Let us first consider the case of  $F_{24}$  with the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure corresponding to  $g = A_1^8$ . We use a description of the  $E_8$  lattice as  $E_8 = D_8 \cup (\chi + D_8)$ , where

$$D_8 = \left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_8) \in \mathbb{Z}^8 \mid \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i \in 2\mathbb{Z} \right\},$$
(3.1)

and  $\chi = (1/2, 1/2, \dots, 1/2) \in \mathbb{R}^8$ , so that

$$\chi + D_8 = \left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_8) \in \left(\frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}\right)^8 \mid \sum_{i=1}^8 x_i \in 2\mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$
 (3.2)

We note that  $\chi + D_8$  is one of the four cosets in  $D_8^*/D_8$ . Consider a symmetry  $\delta$  of  $V^{fE_8}$ that acts trivially on  $\psi^i$ ,  $\partial X^i$ , i = 1, ..., 8, and  $V_{\lambda}$ , for all  $\lambda \in D_8$  but acts by  $V_{\lambda} \mapsto -V_{\lambda}$ for  $\lambda \in \chi + D_8$ . This is a symmetry of order 2 of the SVOA acting trivially on the supercurrent G. The group  $\langle \delta \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$  is a subgroup of a U(1)<sup>8</sup> group of symmetries which preserves  $\partial X^i$ ,  $\psi^i$  (and therefore preserves the supercurrent) and acts by  $V_{\lambda} \mapsto e^{2\pi i \alpha \cdot \lambda} V_{\lambda}$  for some  $\alpha \in (E_8 \otimes \mathbb{R})/E_8$ . In particular,  $\delta$  corresponds to  $\alpha = (1, 0, 0, ..., 0) \in (E_8 \otimes \mathbb{R})/E_8$ .

The orbifold of  $V^{fE_8}$  by  $\langle \delta \rangle$  is again an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  SVOA, with the supercurrent G inherited from the parent theory. The  $\delta$ -invariant subalgebra  $(V^{fE_8})^{\delta}$  is a supersymmetric lattice SVOA based on the lattice  $D_8$ . The  $\delta$ -invariant  $\delta$ -twisted sector is the  $(V^{fE_8})^{\delta}$ -module corresponding to the coset  $\alpha + D_8$ , another of the four cosets of  $D_8^*/D_8$ . Since  $D_8 \cup (\alpha + D_8) \cong \mathbb{Z}_8$ , it turns out that the orbifold can be described as a lattice SVOA based on the odd unimodular lattice  $\mathbb{Z}_8$ , together with the 8 fermions  $\psi^i$ . To check that this is actually the same as the SVOA generated by 24 free fermions, notice that there are 24 fields of weight 1/2, namely  $\psi^i$  and  $V_{\pm e_i}$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 8$ , where  $\{e_i\}$ , with  $e_i = (0, \ldots, 0, 1, 0, \ldots, 0) \in \mathbb{Z}^8$ , is the standard basis of  $\mathbb{Z}_8$ . Furthermore, since :  $V_{e_i}V_{-e_i} :\sim \partial X^i$ , these 24 fields of weight 1/2 generate the whole SVOA. Set  $\lambda^i := \psi^i$ ,  $\lambda^{8+i} := V_{e_i}$ ,  $\lambda^{16+i} := V_{-e_i}$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 8$ . Then, the supercurrent G can be written (up to normalization) as

$$G \sim \sum_{i=1}^{8} : \psi^{i} \partial X^{i} :\sim \sum_{i=1}^{8} : \psi^{i} V_{e_{i}} V_{-e_{i}} := \sum_{i=1}^{8} : \lambda^{i} \lambda^{8+i} \lambda^{16+i} :, \qquad (3.3)$$

which is of the form (2.3) with  $c_{ijk}$  the structure constants of  $A_1^8$ .

There are similar orbifolds of  $V^{fE_8}$  giving all the other  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structures on  $F_{24}$ . In order to describe them, it is easier to implement the procedure in reverse, i.e. to find a cyclic group of symmetries of  $F_{24}$  which preserves a given  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent and such that the orbifold theory is isomorphic to  $V^{fE_8}$  with its  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure. Then, one uses the fact that orbifolds by cyclic groups are 'invertible'. This means that if a CFT *B* is obtained from the CFT *A* via an orbifold by a cyclic group  $\langle \delta \rangle$ , then the CFT *B* has a 'quantum symmetry' *Q* such that the orbifold of *B* by  $\langle Q \rangle$  is again *A*. The symmetry *Q* has the same order *N* as  $\delta$  and acts on *B* by multiplying the states in the  $\delta^r$ -twisted sector by  $e^{\frac{2\pi i r}{N}}$ . In particular, if *A* has a  $\delta$ -invariant  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent, the induced supercurrent in *B* is also *Q*-invariant, because it resides in the untwisted sector. By applying this general procedure to the case we are interested in, then if we can show that  $V^{fE_8}$  can be obtained from  $F_{24}$ through an orbifold by an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$ -preserving cyclic group, we know that the orbifold of  $V^{fE_8}$  by the 'quantum symmetry' will give back  $F_{24}$ .

To implement this construction, we need a symmetry  $\sigma$  of  $F_{24}$  that projects out most of the 24 spin 1/2 fields, leaving at most 8 of them — this is the number of spin 1/2 fields in  $V^{fE_8}$ . Furthermore, the currents that are supersymmetric descendants of these  $\sigma$ -invariant fermions must commute with each other — this is what happens with the supersymmetric descendants of the 8 free fermions in  $V^{fE_8}$ . In order to preserve the supercurrent G, it is sufficient that  $\sigma$  acts on the 24 fermions  $\lambda^i$  — whose supersymmetric descendants (currents) generate one of the Lie algebras g listed in (2.16) — by an automorphism of the corresponding Lie algebra q. Explicitly, let  $J^i$  be the current superpartner of the free fermion  $\lambda^i$ , i = 1, ..., 24, and let  $\theta$  be a Lie algebra automorphism acting as  $J^i \to \theta(J^i) =$  $\sum_{i} \theta_{ij} J^{j}$  on the currents. Then, we let the symmetry  $\sigma$  act by  $\lambda_{i} \mapsto \sigma(\lambda_{i}) \equiv \sum_{i} \theta_{ij} \lambda^{j}$ . Since  $\theta$  is an automorphism of g, it must preserve the structure constants  $c_{ijk}$ , which implies that  $G \sim \sum_{i,j,k} c_{ijk} \lambda^i \lambda^j \lambda^k$  is also preserved by this symmetry. The condition that the superpartners of  $\sigma$ -invariant fermions must commute (i.e., they must be contained in some Cartan subalgebra of the Lie algebra q) automatically ensures that there are at most  $8 \text{ spin } 1/2 \text{ fields surviving the orbifold projection, because the algebras listed in (2.16) have$ rank at most 8. This condition can be achieved by taking  $\theta$  to be an inner automorphism of g in a given Cartan torus acting non-trivially on all non-zero roots.

A symmetry  $\sigma$  projecting out all spin 1/2 fields corresponding to non-trivial roots of g, and such that the orbifold is consistent, can be constructed as follows. Let  $g = \bigoplus_k g_k$  be the decomposition of g into simple components  $g_k$ , with Weyl vectors  $\rho_k$  and dual Coxeter numbers  $h_{g_k}^{\vee}$ . Then, the Weyl vector of g is  $\rho = \bigoplus_k \rho_k \in P_g = \bigoplus_k P_{g_k}$ . With our normalization of the Killing form, the Freudenthal-de Vries strange formula reads

$$(\rho_k|\rho_k) = \frac{\dim g_k}{12}, \qquad (3.4)$$

so that

$$(\rho|\rho) = \sum_{k} (\rho_k|\rho_k) = \frac{\dim g}{12} = 2.$$
 (3.5)

We take the symmetry  $\sigma$  to act on the fermion  $\lambda^{\alpha}$  corresponding to a root  $\alpha$  by  $\sigma(\lambda^{\alpha}) = e^{2\pi i (\rho | \alpha)} \lambda^{\alpha}$ , and to act trivially on the spin 1/2 fields corresponding to the Cartan

subalgebra. Notice that, for each positive root  $\alpha$  in the  $g_k$  component, we have

$$0 < (\rho | \alpha) \le (\rho | \theta_k), \tag{3.6}$$

where  $\theta_k$  is the highest root of  $g_k$ . With our normalization for the Killing form, we have

$$(\rho|\theta_k) = (\rho_k|\theta_k) = 1 - \frac{1}{h_{q_k}^{\vee}}, \qquad (3.7)$$

so that  $0 < (\rho | \alpha) < 1$  for all positive roots. In particular,  $\sigma$  acts non-trivially on all  $\lambda^{\pm \alpha}$ , so that only the spin 1/2 fields corresponding to the Cartan subalgebra are preserved by the orbifold projection.

In order to check that the orbifold is consistent, one needs to check the level-matching condition, i.e. to verify that the levels of the  $\sigma$ -twisted NS sector are valued in  $\frac{1}{2N}\mathbb{Z}$ , where N is the order of  $\sigma$ . In general, for a theory of 2n free fermions with a symmetry  $\sigma$  of order N acting with eigenvalues  $e^{\pm 2\pi i r_i}$ ,  $i = 1 \dots, n$ ,  $r_i \in \frac{1}{N}\mathbb{Z}$ , the  $\sigma$ -twisted NS states have conformal weights valued in  $\frac{1}{2}\sum_i r_i^2 + \frac{1}{2N}\mathbb{Z}$ . In particular, if we take  $|r_i| \leq \frac{1}{2}$ , then the  $\sigma$ -twisted ground states have conformal weight exactly  $\frac{1}{2}\sum_i r_i^2$ . This standard formula can be obtained, for example, by writing the Virasoro generators  $L_n$  in the twisted sector in terms of normal ordered products of fermionic generators, and fixing the normal ordering constant in  $L_0$  by requiring that the relation  $[L_1, L_{-1}] = 2L_0$  is satisfied (see, for example, [46]). Applying this formula to our case, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i}r_{i}^{2} = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\alpha\in\Delta^{+}}(\rho|\alpha)^{2} = \frac{1}{2}(\rho|\rho) = 1 \in \frac{1}{2N}\mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.8)

Thus, the conformal weights are valued in  $\frac{1}{2N}\mathbb{Z}$ , and the level matching condition is satisfied. We stress that it is not necessarily true that  $|(\rho|\alpha)| \leq 1/2$  for all  $\alpha \in \Delta^+$ , so this formula does not imply that the conformal weights of the ground states are always 1.

We conclude that the orbifold of  $F_{24}$  by  $\sigma$  is a consistent holomorphic SVOA of central charge 12, so the only possibilities are  $V^{fE_8}$ ,  $F_{24}$  or  $V^{f\natural}$ . The latter case can be easily ruled out: the orbifold theory contains at least the spin 1/2 fields  $\lambda^i$  corresponding to the Cartan subalgebra of g, while  $V^{f\natural}$  contains no such fields. Finally, we verified in a case-by-case analysis that the orbifold theory never contains 24 fields of spin 1/2, so we conclude that the orbifold is the  $V^{fE_8}$  theory.

For example, for an  $A_n$  algebra, the automorphism  $\sigma$  acts by multiplication by  $e^{\frac{2\pi i}{n+1}}$ on the root space  $g_{\alpha_i}$  for every simple root  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ ; then, for any root  $\alpha = \sum_i m_i \alpha_i$  the automorphism acts on the root spaces  $g_\alpha$  by multiplication by  $e^{\frac{2\pi i \sum_i m_i}{n+1}}$ ; since  $\sum_i m_i \leq n$ (and  $\sum_i m_i \geq -n$  for negative roots) for the  $A_n$  algebra,<sup>10</sup> one has that  $\sigma$  acts trivially only on the Cartan subalgebra. Besides the currents in the Cartan subalgebra of g, which are supersymmetric descendants, the symmetry  $\sigma$  leaves invariant a number of superconformal primary currents. These can be easily determined since we know the eigenvalues of  $\sigma$  on  $\lambda^i$ . Below we shall consider some explicit examples.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>This is automatic by one of the definitions of the Coxeter number.

Simple Lie algebra $g_k$	Dimension	Eigenvalues $\lambda_{g_k}$
$A_1$	3	$\{1, -1, -1\}$
A2	8	$\left\{1, 1, e\left(\frac{1}{3}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{3}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{3}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{3}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{3}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{3}\right)\right\}$
$A_3$	15	$ \begin{cases} 1, 1, 1, -1, -1, -1, -1, e\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), \\ e\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right) \end{cases} \end{cases} $
$A_4$	24	$ \begin{cases} 1, 1, 1, 1, e\left(\frac{1}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{5}\right),$
$B_2$	10	$\left\{1,1,-1,-1,\operatorname{e}\left(\tfrac{1}{3}\right),\operatorname{e}\left(\tfrac{1}{3}\right),\operatorname{e}\left(\tfrac{2}{3}\right),\operatorname{e}\left(\tfrac{2}{3}\right),\operatorname{e}\left(\tfrac{1}{6}\right),\operatorname{e}\left(\tfrac{5}{6}\right)\right\}$
<i>B</i> <sub>3</sub>	21	$ \begin{cases} 1, 1, 1, -1, -1, e\left(\frac{1}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{5}\right), \\ e\left(\frac{3}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{4}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{4}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{4}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{4}{5}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{10}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{10}\right), e\left(\frac{7}{10}\right), e\left(\frac{9}{10}\right) \end{cases} $
$C_3$	21	$ \begin{cases} 1, 1, 1, -1, -1, -1, -1, e\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), \\ e\left(\frac{1}{8}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{8}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{8}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{8}\right), e\left(\frac{5}{8}\right), e\left(\frac{5}{8}\right), e\left(\frac{7}{8}\right), e\left(\frac{7}{8}\right) \end{cases} \} $
$G_2$	14	$ \begin{cases} 1, 1, -1, -1, e\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), e\left(\frac{1}{3}\right), e\left(\frac{2}{3}\right), \\ e\left(\frac{1}{12}\right), e\left(\frac{5}{12}\right), e\left(\frac{7}{12}\right), e\left(\frac{11}{12}\right) \end{cases} $

**Table 1.** Eigenvalues for symmetries  $\sigma_g$  which relate  $F_{24}$  with g-preserving  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent to  $V^{fE_8}$ . The 24 eigenvalues  $\lambda_g$  of  $\sigma_g$  can be decomposed into sets of eigenvalues which act on each simple component of g, such that  $\lambda_g = \bigcup_k \lambda_{g_k}$  whenever  $\sigma_g = \bigoplus_k \sigma_{g_k}$ . Here we use the abbreviation  $\mathbf{e}(x) := e^{2\pi i x}$ .

## 3.2 Examples

In this section, we summarize the action of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$ -preserving orbifolds of  $F_{24}$  which reproduce the SVOA  $V^{fE_8}$ , for each choice of g in  $F_{24}$ . Let  $\sigma_g$  be the orbifold symmetry which relates  $F_{24}$  with  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent determined by g to  $V^{fE_8}$ , and  $\lambda_g$  be the set of 24 eigenvalues of  $\sigma_g$ . As explained in the previous section, these eigenvalues can be computed independently for each simple component  $g_k$  of each choice of semisimple Lie algebra  $g = \bigoplus_k g_k$ , such that  $\lambda_g = \bigcup_k \lambda_{g_k}$ . See table 1 for a summary of these eigenvalues for each choice of simple Lie algebra which arises in our construction.

Below we give more details of these orbifolds for several choices of Lie algebra g:

•  $g = A_1^8$ . We have already studied this case, albeit beginning with an orbifold of  $V^{fE_8}$ ; let us consider the same algebra from an orbifold of  $F_{24}$ . We take the automorphism  $\sigma$  to act by +1 on the 8 spin 1/2 fermions corresponding to a Cartan subalgebra of  $A_1^8$ , which we denote by  $\lambda^{a+}$ ,  $a = 1, \ldots, 8$ , and to act by -1 on the 16 spin 1/2 fermions corresponding to non-zero roots, which we denote by  $\lambda^{a-}$ ,  $a = 1, \ldots, 16$ . The untwisted sector contains the 8 fields  $\lambda^{a+}$  of spin 1/2, as well as the currents  $\lambda^{a+}\lambda^{b+}$ ,  $1 \leq a < b \leq 8$ , and  $\lambda^{a-}\lambda^{b-}$ ,  $1 \leq a < b \leq 16$ , which together form a  $so(8) \oplus so(16)$  algebra of dimension 28 + 120 = 148. In the  $\sigma$ -twisted (NS) sector, the fermions  $\lambda^{a+}$  have a mode expansion  $\lambda^{a+} = \sum_r \lambda_r^{a+} z^{-r-1/2}$  with  $r \in \frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}$ , while the  $\lambda^{a-}$  have modes  $\lambda_r^{a-}$  with  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The ground state level can be easily computed to be  $16*\frac{1}{4}(1/2)^2 = 1$ . The ground states must form a representation of the Clifford algebra of the 16 zero modes  $\lambda_0^{a-}$ , so they must be degenerate with multiplicity  $2^8 = 256$ . Since each of these zero modes changes the  $\sigma$ -eigenvalue of the states, half of these 256 ground states are  $\sigma$ -invariant and half have  $\sigma$ -eigenvalue -1. It follows that, after the orbifold projection, there will be 128 additional currents, commuting with the so(8) generated by  $\lambda^{a+}\lambda^{b+}$  and transforming in a spinor representation of the 128 = 0.16. Together, the untwisted so(16) currents and the 128  $\sigma$ -twisted currents form a copy of the  $E_8$  current algebra.

- $g = A_2^3$ . We let  $\sigma$  act trivially on the six  $\lambda^i$  corresponding to the Cartan subalgebra and by multiplication by  $\omega = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}$  on each of the spin 1/2 fields corresponding to simple roots. Therefore, the eigenvalues of  $\sigma$  on the 24-dimensional representation of spin 1/2 fermions are: 1 with multiplicity 6,  $e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}$  with multiplicity 9, and  $e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{3}}$ with multiplicity 9. The untwisted sector currents are  $\lambda_a^1 \lambda_b^1$ ,  $1 \le a < b \le 6$ , and  $\lambda_a^{\omega} \lambda_b^{\bar{\omega}}, 1 \leq a, b, \leq 9$  (note that we do not require a < b here). We have a total of 15+81=96 currents, forming an  $so(6)\oplus u(9)\cong so(6)\oplus u(1)\oplus su(9)$  algebra. In the  $\sigma$ -twisted sector, the  $\lambda_a^{\omega}$  are moded in  $\frac{1}{6} + \mathbb{Z}$  and the  $\lambda_a^{\bar{\omega}}$  are moded in  $\frac{5}{6} + \mathbb{Z}$  (and vice versa in the  $\sigma^2$ -twisted sector). Thus, the level of the twisted sector ground state is  $18 \times \frac{1}{4}(1/3)^2 = 1/2$ . There are no zero modes, so that there is a unique ground state in each of the twisted sectors, and we can choose them to be  $\sigma$ -invariant. This gives 6 untwisted spin-1/2 fields and one more from each of the two twisted sectors, for a total of 8 spin-1/2 fields. From each twisted sector, we have six additional  $\sigma$ -invariant currents of the form  $\lambda_{a,-1/2}^1 |gr\rangle$ ,  $a = 1, \ldots, 6$ , and  $9 \cdot 8 \cdot 7/3! = 84$  of the form  $\lambda_{a,-1/6}^{\omega}\lambda_{b,-1/6}^{\omega}\lambda_{c,-1/6}^{\omega}|gr\rangle$ ,  $1 \leq a < b < c \leq 9$  obtained by acting on the ground state  $|gr\rangle$ . The untwisted  $so(6) \oplus u(1)$ , together with the six currents  $\lambda_{a,-1/2}^{1}|gr\rangle$  from each of the two twisted sectors, combine into an so(8) algebra. The untwisted su(9), together with the 84  $\lambda_{a,-1/6}^{\omega}\lambda_{b,-1/6}^{\omega}\lambda_{c,-1/6}^{\omega}|gr\rangle$  from each twisted sector combine to form the  $E_8$  algebra.
- $g = A_3 A_1^3$ . We let  $\sigma$  act as it did for  $g = A_1^8$  on the subset of the  $\lambda_i$  corresponding to  $A_1^3$ , and let  $\sigma$  act by multiplication by i on the simple roots of  $A_3$ . The eigenvalue distribution in the form (multiplicity  $\times$  eigenvalue) in the 24-dimensional representation of the free fermions is  $(6 \times 1)$ ,  $(10 \times -1)$ ,  $(4 \times i)$ ,  $(4 \times -i)$ . The invariant currents form the algebra  $so(6) \oplus so(10) \oplus u(4) \cong so(6) \oplus so(10) \oplus u(1) \oplus su(4)$ , for a total of 15 + 45 + 16 = 76 untwisted sector currents. The ground states of the  $\sigma$ - and  $\sigma^3$ -twisted sector have level  $\frac{1}{4}(4(1/4)^2 + 4(1/4)^2 + 10(1/2)^2) = 3/4$ ; there are  $2^5 = 32$ degenerate ground states, forming a representation of the Clifford algebra of the zero modes of the 10 free fermions with eigenvalues -1. Half of them have a  $\sigma$ -eigenvalue  $\zeta$ while the other half have eigenvalue  $-\zeta$ . We fix the action of  $\sigma$  on the twisted sectors, there are  $4 \cdot 16 = 64 \sigma$ -invariant currents, transforming in a (16, 4)-representation of  $so(10) \oplus u(4)$ . Since  $\sigma^2$  has an eigenvalue distribution  $(16 \times 1)$ ,  $(8 \times -1)$ , the

 $\sigma^2$ -twisted ground states have level  $8 \times \frac{1}{4}(1/2)^2 = \frac{1}{2}$ , and form a  $2^4 = 16$  dimensional representation of the Clifford algebra of the 8 fermionic zero modes. The  $\sigma$ -eigenvalue distribution on the ground states is  $(2 \times 1)$ ,  $(6 \times -1)$ ,  $(4 \times i)$ ,  $(4 \times -i)$ . Currents in the  $\sigma^2$ -twisted sector are obtained by acting on the ground states with one of the 16 half-integrally moded fermions, which have  $\sigma$ -eigenvalues +1 (6 of them) or -1 (10 of them). Therefore, we get  $6 \times 2 + 10 \times 6 = 72 \sigma$ -invariant currents. In total, we have 76 + 64 + 72 + 64 = 276 currents, as expected. In particular, the  $so(6) \oplus u(1)$  algebra, together with the  $6 \times 2$  currents in the  $\sigma^2$ -twisted sector, form the 'fermionic' so(8) obtained from the OPE of two spin 1/2 fields, while the  $so(10) \oplus su(4)$  algebra in the untwisted sector combines with the 64 in each of the  $\sigma$ - and  $\sigma^3$ -twisted sectors (in the (16, 4) and (16,  $\bar{4}$ ) representation of  $so(10) \oplus su(4)$ ) and the  $10 \times 6$  from the  $\sigma^2$ -twisted sector (in the (10, 6) representation of  $so(10) \oplus su(4)$ ) to form the  $E_8$  algebra.

•  $g = G_2 B_2$  & the rest. For the other algebras, in particular with non-simply-laced components, the analysis is slightly more complicated. We illustrate the general procedure by describing one example, the  $g = G_2 B_2$  case. The symmetry  $\sigma$  has order 12 and fixes 4 fermions, corresponding to the Cartan subalgebra of g. On the remaining 20 fermions, the eigenvalues are  $e^{\pm 2\pi r_i}$ , where the  $r_i \in \frac{1}{12}\mathbb{Z}, i = 1, \dots, 10$ , are  $\frac{1}{4}$ ,  $\frac{1}{12}$ ,  $\frac{1}{3}$ ,  $\frac{5}{12}$ ,  $\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\frac{3}{4}$  from the  $G_2$  component, and  $\frac{1}{3}$ ,  $\frac{1}{6}$ ,  $\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\frac{2}{3}$  from the  $B_2$  component. From these data, one can compute the conformal weights of the  $\sigma^n$ -twisted ground states (NS sector), obtaining  $\frac{7}{12}$  for  $n = 1, 5, 7, 11, \frac{1}{2}$  for  $n = 2, 10, \frac{1}{2}$  for  $n = 3, 9, \frac{1}{3}$ for  $n = 4, 8, \frac{1}{2}$  for n = 6. As expected, the level matching condition is satisfied. The degeneracy of the ground states is determined by the number of fermionic zero modes in each twisted sector. Using the algebra of fermionic oscillators, one can determine the number of spin-1/2 states in each twisted sector. Next, one needs to project on the  $\sigma$ -invariant subspace. On each twisted sector, the action of  $\sigma$  can be easily determined up to an overall phase. The general theory of orbifolds tells us that, when the level matching condition is satisfied, there exists a choice for these phases such that the  $\sigma$ -invariant fields define a consistent SVOA. However, determining the right phases explicitly is usually complicated, so in practice we take the following shortcut for this example. We verified that, for any choice of the phases, the total number of  $\sigma$ -invariant spin 1/2 fields is less than 24 (and more than 0). This is sufficient to conclude that the orbifold theory is  $V^{fE_8}$ . As a consistency check, we also verified that there is a choice of phases for which the number of  $\sigma$ -invariant spin 1/2 fields is exactly 8. We performed a similar analysis for all choices of q, and in all cases we obtained  $V^{fE_8}$  as the orbifold theory.

With the analysis of  $F_{24}$  orbifolds complete, we will now turn to a uniform construction of BKM superalgebras for each choice of g.

# 4 BKM superalgebras from $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SVOAs: a general construction

In this section, we describe a procedure to construct a BKM superalgebra starting from a holomorphic SVOA V with central charge c = 12 with an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure. The procedure is heavily inspired by the definition of physical states in superstring theory — it is, in

a sense, a 'chiral version' of that construction — and is a supersymmetric generalization of Borcherds' construction of the fake Monster and Monster Lie algebras [5, 7] that was inspired by bosonic string theory. The main steps have been developed in [48] for the specific example where V is the lattice SVOA  $V^{fE_8}$  based on the  $E_8$  lattice, and has been generalized to the example where  $V = V^{f\natural}$  in [31]. We will briefly describe the main steps in this construction and refer to [31, 40, 48] for the proofs of most statements.

#### 4.1 Super vertex algebras

For this construction, we need to consider a super vertex algebra (SVA)  $V^{\text{tot}}$  given by a product

$$V^{\text{tot}} = V^m \otimes V^{gh} = V^{\text{int}} \otimes V^{X,\psi} \otimes V^{gh}$$

$$\tag{4.1}$$

where the 'matter' SVA  $V^m$  has central charge 15 and the 'ghost' SVA  $V^{gh}$  has central charge -15. The matter SVA  $V^m$  is itself a product of an 'internal' SVOA  $V^{\text{int}}$  of central charge 12 and a 'space-time' SVA  $V^{X,\psi}$  of central charge 3.

Each of these SVAs has a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -grading given by a fermion parity  $(-1)^F$ , and there is a canonically twisted module on which one can choose an action of the fermion parity  $(-1)^F$  (though with a certain ambiguity). We again use the physics parlance: the vertex superalgebras are the Neveu-Schwarz (NS) sector and the twisted module is the Ramond (R) sector. For this reason, we will often put a subscript NS on the SVAs, such as  $V_{NS}^{\text{int}} \equiv V^{\text{int}}, V_{NS}^{gh} \equiv V^{gh}$  etc.

In more detail, the various factors are as follows:

- The 'internal (Neveu-Schwarz) sector' of the superstring theory  $V_{NS}^{\text{int}} = V^{\text{int}}$  is a  $\mathcal{N} = 1$ self-dual SVOA (holomorphic SCFT) of central charge 12. Up to a choice of the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supercurrent, there are only three possible such SVOAs, up to isomorphism [15]. One is given by the 24 free fermion SVOA  $F_{24}$  described in section 2; the other two are the supersymmetric  $E_8$  lattice SVOA  $V^{fE_8}$  and the Conway module  $V^{f\natural}$ studied in [18]. The name 'internal' comes from the idea of compactifying the 10dimensional spacetime of a type II superstring on an 8-dimensional compact manifold, whose corresponding non-linear sigma model is a SCFT of central charge 12. Note however that the standard superstring construction has also an anti-holomorphic sector, while our construction in this article is chiral. The space  $V_{NS}^{\text{int}}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)$  of states of conformal weight ( $L_0$ -eigenvalue) 1/2 is 24-dimensional for  $F_{24}$ , 8 dimensional for  $V^{fE_8}$  and 0-dimensional for  $V^{f\natural}$ . The space  $G^V_{-1/2}V^{\text{int}}_{NS}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) \subseteq V^{\text{int}}_{NS}(1)$  of their superpartners will be relevant in the following. The zero modes of these currents generate a finite-dimensional Lie algebra g, where g = 0 for  $V^{f\natural}$  and  $g = u(1)^{\oplus 8}$ for  $V^{fE_8}$ ; for  $F_{24}$  the possible algebras g, which are non-abelian and depend on the choice of the supercurrent  $G^V$ , are described in section 2. The canonically twisted module (Ramond sector) is denoted by  $V_R^{\text{int}}$ .
- The 'uncompactified' directions are represented by an SVA  $V^{X,\psi} \equiv V_{NS}^{X,\psi}$  (the NS sector) based on the even unimodular lattice  $\Gamma^{1,1}$  of signature (1, 1), and its canonically twisted module  $V_R^{X,\psi}$ . The basic fields are two chiral free bosons  $X^+(z), X^-(z)$

and their superpartners, the free fermions  $\psi^+, \psi^-$ . The chiral bosons alway appear either with derivatives  $\partial^n X^{\pm}$ ,  $n \ge 1$ , or exponentiated in the form of vertex operators  $e^{ikX}$  for each  $k \in \Gamma^{1,1}$ . A convenient description of  $\Gamma^{1,1}$  is as the lattice of vectors  $k \equiv (k^+, k^-) = (m, n) \in \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$  with quadratic form

$$k^{2} \equiv k^{\mu}k_{\mu} \equiv \eta_{\mu\nu}k^{\mu}k^{\nu} = -2k^{+}k^{-} = -2mn.$$
(4.2)

Roughly speaking,  $X^+$ ,  $X^-$  represent the light-cone coordinates in a 1+1 dimensional space-time  $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$  with metric  $\eta_{++} = \eta_{--} = 0$ ,  $\eta_{+-} = -1$ . The mode expansions are

$$i\partial X^{\mu} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \alpha_n^{\mu} z^{-n-1} , \qquad \mu \in \{+, -\} .$$

$$(4.3)$$

$$\psi^{\mu}(z) = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z} + \nu} \psi^{\mu}_{r} z^{-r-1/2}, \qquad \mu \in \{+, -\}.$$
(4.4)

where  $\nu = 1/2$  in the NS sector and  $\nu = 0$  in the R sector. The vertex operators  $e^{ikX}$ correspond to states  $|k\rangle$  that are eigenstates of the zero modes  $P^{\mu} = \alpha_0^{\mu}$  (momentum operators) of  $i\partial X^{\mu}$  with eigenvalues  $k^{\mu}, \mu \in \{+, -\}$ . The stress energy tensor  $T^{X,\psi}(z)$ and  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent  $G^{X,\psi}(z)$  are given by

$$T^{X,\psi}(z) = \frac{1}{2} : \partial X^{\mu} \partial X_{\mu} : (z) + \frac{1}{4} : \psi_{\mu} \partial \psi^{\mu} : (z)$$

$$(4.5)$$

$$G^{X,\psi}(z) =: \psi^{\mu} \partial X_{\mu} : (z)$$
(4.6)

and generate an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superalgebra with central charge c = 3. The fields  $\psi^{\mu}$  and  $e^{ikX}$  are superconformal primaries with conformal weight 1/2 and  $k^2/2$ , respectively; the fields  $\partial X^{\mu}$  are superconformal descendants of  $\psi^{\mu}$  and have weight 1.

We refer to the product of the SVAs  $V^{\text{int}}$  and  $V^{X,\psi}$  as the matter sector  $V^m = V^{\text{int}} \otimes V^{X,\psi}$ , with matter stress-energy tensor

$$T^{m}(z) = T^{V}(z) + T^{X,\psi}(z), \qquad (4.7)$$

 $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent

$$G^{m}(z) = G^{V}(z) + G^{X,\psi}(z), \qquad (4.8)$$

and total central charge c = 15.

• The ghost sector  $V^{gh}$  is a SVA generated by the anticommuting bosonic fields

$$b(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} b_n z^{-n-2} \qquad c(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} c_n z^{-n+1}, \qquad (4.9)$$

and their superpartners, the commuting fermionic fields

$$\beta(z) = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z} + \nu} \beta_r z^{-r - 3/2} \qquad \gamma(z) = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z} + \nu} \gamma_r z^{-r + 1/2}, \qquad (4.10)$$

where  $\nu = 1/2$  in the NS sector  $V_{NS}^{gh} \equiv V^{gh}$  and  $\nu = 0$  in the Ramond sector  $V_R^{gh}$  (the canonically twisted module of  $V^{gh}$ ). The stress-energy tensor  $T^{gh}(z)$  and the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$ 

supercurrent  $G^{gh}(z)$  are given by

$$T^{gh} = -: (\partial b)c: -2: b\partial c: -\frac{1}{2}: (\partial \beta)\gamma: -\frac{3}{2}: \beta \partial \gamma:$$
(4.11)

$$G^{gh}(z) = -(\partial\beta)c(z) - \frac{3}{2}\beta\partial c(z) - 2b\gamma(z)$$
(4.12)

and form an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superVirasoro algebra with central charge c = -15. The fields b and c and their superpartners  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  have conformal weights 2, -1, 3/2 and -1/2, respectively. One can define a ghost quantum number, with respect to which c and  $\gamma$  have charge +1, while b and  $\beta$  have charge -1. It is often useful to have an alternative description of the superghosts  $\beta, \gamma$  as a subalgebra of a SVA generated by two anticommuting fields  $\xi$  and  $\eta$  of conformal weight 0 and 1 and a chiral scalar  $\phi$ 

$$\beta = \partial \xi e^{-\phi} \qquad \gamma = \eta e^{\phi} \,. \tag{4.13}$$

The fields  $\eta, \xi$  obey the same OPE as b and c, while  $\phi$  generates a lattice vertex algebra based on a 1-dimensional lattice, and always appears with derivatives  $\partial^n \phi$ , n > 0 or in exponentials  $e^{\frac{m}{2}\phi}$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . More precisely, the fields  $e^{\frac{m}{2}\phi}$ , have m even or odd depending on whether they act on the NS or the R sector. The stress energy tensor becomes

$$T^{gh} = -: (\partial b)c: -2: b\partial c: -\frac{1}{2}\partial\phi\partial\phi - \partial^2\phi - \eta\partial\xi$$
(4.14)

in terms of these fields. Note that the SVA generated by  $\eta, \xi$  and  $\phi$  is strictly larger than the one generated by  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ .

The  $\beta\gamma$ -module built starting from the PSL(2,  $\mathbb{C}$ )-invariant vacuum  $|0\rangle$  is unbounded from below, since the states  $(\gamma_{1/2})^n |0\rangle$  have arbitrarily low  $L_0$ -eigenvalues. More generally, one can consider different  $\beta\gamma$ -modules, starting from a state  $|p\rangle$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ (NS sector) or  $p \in \frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}$  (R sector), satisfying

$$\beta_r |p\rangle = 0, \qquad r \ge -p - 1/2 \qquad (4.15)$$

$$\gamma_r |p\rangle = 0,$$
  $r > p + 1/2.$  (4.16)

p is the picture number of the  $\beta\gamma$ -module. It is easy to see that only for  $p \in \{-1, -1/2, -3/2\}$ , all positive modes of both  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  annihilate  $|p\rangle$ ; therefore, only in this case the  $L_0$  eigenvalues are bounded from below with  $|p\rangle$  having the lowest eigenvalue (ground state). The different  $\beta\gamma$ -modules are related to each other in the larger algebra generated by  $\xi, \eta, \phi$ , by

$$|p\rangle = e^{p\phi}|0\rangle. \tag{4.17}$$

The full SVA

$$V_{NS}^{\text{tot}} \equiv V^{\text{tot}} = V^{\text{int}} \otimes V^{X,\mu} \otimes V^{gh} \equiv V^m \otimes V^{gh}$$
(4.18)

contains a  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superVirasoro subalgebra with central charge  $c^{\text{tot}} = 0$  generated by the stress-energy tensor  $T(z) = \sum_n L_n z^{-n-2}$ 

$$T = T^m + T^{gh} = T^V + T^{X,\psi} + T^{gh}$$
(4.19)

and  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent

$$G = G^m + G^{gh} = G^V + G^{X,\psi} + G^{gh} . ag{4.20}$$

The fermion number operator on  $V^{\text{tot}}$ , leaving bosons fixed and multiplying fermions by -1, is the product of the fermion number operators on the single factors. The canonically twisted module (Ramond sector) of  $V^{\text{tot}}$  is just the product

$$V_R^{\text{tot}} = V_R^{\text{int}} \otimes V_R^{X,\mu} \otimes V_R^{gh} = V_R^m \otimes V_R^{gh}, \qquad (4.21)$$

of the Ramond sectors, where we defined the matter Ramond sector  $V_R^m = V_R^{\text{int}} \otimes V_R^{X,\mu}$ . For each of these SVA, the action of the fermion number operator on the algebra can be extended to an action on the Ramond sector. There is a certain ambiguity in choosing this expansion; we assume that a choice has been made, so that  $(-1)^F$  has order 2 on the Ramond sector.

# 4.2 BRST cohomology

The next step on the path to obtaining the chiral physical states, mimicking the usual superstring construction, is to perform a GSO projection, i.e. to consider only the even subspace

$$V^{\rm GSO} \equiv V_{NS+}^{\rm tot} \oplus V_{R+}^{\rm tot}, \qquad (4.22)$$

which is the eigenspace of the total fermion number with eigenvalue +1, and then to further restrict to the kernel of  $b_0, L_0$  (NS sector) or to the kernel of  $b_0, L_0, \beta_0, G_0$  (R sector)<sup>11</sup>

$$C = (V_{NS+}^{\text{tot}} \cap \ker \langle b_0, L_0 \rangle) \oplus (V_{R+}^{\text{tot}} \cap \ker \langle b_0, L_0, \beta_0, G_0 \rangle), \qquad (4.23)$$

where  $\langle b_0, L_0 \rangle$  and  $\langle b_0, L_0, \beta_0, G_0 \rangle$  denote the subalgebras generated by the corresponding elements. On this space, we introduce some gradings given by the ghost and picture numbers  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $p \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ , and the momentum  $k = (k^+, k^-) \in \Gamma^{1,1} \cong \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ 

$$C = \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} C(k) = \bigoplus_{k,p,n} C_p^n(k).$$

$$(4.24)$$

Notice that the NS and the Ramond sector can be distinguished by their picture number p, which is integral in the NS sector and half-integral in the Ramond sector. We now introduce the BRST charge

$$Q = \sum_{n} c_{-n} L_n^m + \sum_{r} \gamma_{-r} G_r^m + \frac{1}{2} (:cT^{gh}:)_0 + \frac{1}{2} (:\gamma G^{gh}:)_0, \qquad (4.25)$$

which is a nilpotent operator that commutes with p, k and shifts the ghost number by 1. For each picture number p and momentum  $k \in \Gamma^{1,1}$ , we have a complex

$$\dots C_p^{n-1}(k) \xrightarrow{Q} C_p^n(k) \xrightarrow{Q} C_p^{n+1}(k) \xrightarrow{Q} \dots$$
(4.26)

and we define the corresponding cohomology spaces as  $H_p^n(k)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Strictly speaking, it is not clear that one needs to impose the extra restrictions to ker  $\beta_0$ , ker  $G_0$  in the R sector, though it is a choice that is sometimes made for convenience. The states at nonzero momentum are insensitive to this restriction, but computations of the cohomology of states at zero-momentum can become simpler. In [30] we will study a non-chiral superstring theory based on  $V^{f \ddagger} \otimes \bar{V}^{f \ddagger}$  and compute the physical states without imposing this extra R sector condition.

Let us recall some results about this cohomology:

**Picture changing.** For each n, k, there is a 'picture raising operator' homomorphism

$$X: H_p^n(k) \to H_{p+1}^n(k) \tag{4.27}$$

which is an isomorphism if  $k \neq 0$ . Therefore, at least at nonzero momentum, one is led to consider only the cohomology groups in the 'canonical pictures' p = -1 (NS sector) and p = -1/2, -3/2 (R sector). It is also reasonable to expect that one can restrict to these canonical pictures at zero momentum without losing any interesting information, and we do so throughout this text.

**Canonical ghost number.** For  $k \neq 0$  and  $n \neq 1$ ,

$$H_n^n(k) = 0. (4.28)$$

This theorem is proved in section 3 of [40]; an alternative proof is given in [23]. The proof only uses the fact that for  $k \neq 0$  the matter sector is a free module for the superalgebra generated by the negative modes of the matter superVirasoro algebra. This is true for any critical internal SVOA  $V^{\text{int}}$ , so the theorem generalizes immediately to the case we are considering. It fails for k = 0 because the module is not free in that case: there are relations corresponding to the fact that  $G_{-1/2}$  and  $L_{-1}$  annihilate the PSL(2,  $\mathbb{C}$ )-invariant vacuum state of the matter SVA  $V^m$ .

- **Bilinear form.** There is a non-degenerate bilinear form  $(\cdot, \cdot)_H$  pairing  $H_p^n(k)$  with  $H_{-2-p}^{2-n}(-k)$ , which is defined in terms of the bilinear forms on the matter and ghost vertex algebras. In particular,  $(\cdot, \cdot)_H$  restricts to a non-degenerate form on  $\bigoplus_k H_{-1}^1(k)$ . In the Ramond sector, this bilinear form non-degenerately pairs  $H_{-1/2}^1(k)$  and  $H_{-3/2}^1(-k)$ . For  $k \neq 0$ , combining this bilinear form with the spectral flow isomorphism  $X : H_{-3/2}^1(k) \to H_{-1/2}^1(k)$ , we get a non-degenerate bilinear form on  $\bigoplus_{k\neq 0} H_{-1/2}^1(k)$ . For k = 0, the homomorphism X might have a non-trivial kernel and the induced bilinear form on  $H_{-1/2}^1(0)$  might be degenerate. We will deal with the k = 0 case separately in the following.
- Equivalence with light-cone quantization. For  $k \neq 0$ , the no-ghost theorem ensures that there is an isomorphism of vector spaces

$$H^{1}_{-1}(k) \cong V^{\rm int}_{NS-}\left(-\frac{k^2}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right), \qquad \qquad k \neq 0\,,$$

where  $V_{NS-}^{\text{int}}(h)$  denotes the component of the internal SVOA  $V^{\text{int}}$  with  $L_0$ -eigenvalue h and negative fermion number (the latter condition is automatically satisfied, since  $h = -\frac{k^2}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \in \frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}$ ). Similarly, there is an isomorphism of vector spaces

$$H^{1}_{-1/2}(k) \cong V^{\text{int}}_{R+}\left(-\frac{k^{2}}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right) \cong V^{\text{int}}_{R-}\left(-\frac{k^{2}}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right), \qquad k^{2} \neq 0,$$

where  $V_{R+}^{\text{int}}(h)$  and  $V_{R-}^{\text{int}}(h)$  denote the components of the canonically twisted module  $V_{R}^{\text{int}}$  of the internal SVOA V with  $L_0$ -eigenvalue h and with positive (respectively,

negative) fermion number. The isomorphism  $V_{R+}^{\text{int}}(h) \cong V_{R-}^{\text{int}}(h)$  is given by the zero mode  $G_0^V$  of the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent. For null momentum k, it is convenient to perform a case-by-case analysis. For  $F_{24}$ , since  $V_{R-}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = V_{R+}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = 0$ , we simply get

$$H^{1}_{-1/2}(k) = 0$$
 for  $k^{2} = 0$ ,  $V^{\text{int}} = F_{24}$ . (4.29)

For the  $V^{fE_8}$  and  $V^{f\sharp}$  cases, we refer to [48] and [31], respectively. In superstring theory, the isomorphisms for  $k \neq 0$  are the statements that the BRST quantization for non-zero momentum is equivalent to the light-cone quantization. This isomorphism is actually an isometry, since it preserves the bilinear forms on the cohomology groups and on the SVOA (and its module).

Cohomology representatives from old covariant quantization. A particularly useful set of representatives for the cohomology classes in  $H^1_{-1}(k)$  is given by states of the form

$$c_1 e^{-\phi} |\chi, k\rangle, \qquad (4.30)$$

where  $|\chi, k\rangle$  is a state of momentum k in the matter SVA  $V_{NS}^m = V_{NS}^{int} \otimes V_{NS}^{X,\psi}$  that satisfies

$$\left(L_0^m - \frac{1}{2}\right)|\chi, k\rangle = 0, \qquad (4.31)$$

$$L_n^m |\chi, k\rangle = G_r^m |\chi, k\rangle = 0, \qquad \forall n, r > 0, \qquad (4.32)$$

i.e. it is a superconformal primary of weight 1/2. It is easy to see that states of the form (4.30) and satisfying (4.31), (4.32) are Q-closed and therefore define classes in  $H^1_{-1}(k)$ . Vice versa it can be shown [46] that every class in  $H^1_{-1}(k)$  has a representative of this form, but possibly more than one (i.e. some of the states (4.30) might be Q-exact). Similarly, all classes in  $H^1_{-1/2}(k)$  admit (possibly non-unique) representatives of the form

$$c_1 e^{-\phi/2} |u,k\rangle \tag{4.33}$$

where  $|u, k\rangle$  is a state of momentum k in the matter Ramond sector  $V_R^m = V_R^{\text{int}} \otimes V_R^{X,\psi}$ with fermion number -1 and such that

$$L_n^m |u,k\rangle = G_r^m |u,k\rangle = 0, \qquad \forall n > 0, r \ge 0, \qquad (4.34)$$

(since  $(G_0^m)^2 = L_0^m - \frac{5}{8}$ , the condition  $G_0^m |u, k\rangle = 0$  implies  $\left(L_0^m - \frac{5}{8}\right) |u, k\rangle = 0$ ). The definition of the space of physical states in terms of states satisfying (4.31), (4.32) or (4.34) is known as the 'Old Covariant Quantization' in superstring theory.

**Zero momentum.** It is clear from the previous observations that the k = 0 sector needs to be considered separately, since most of the theorems we mentioned above do not apply in this case. Fortunately, it is easy to find the cohomology groups by a direct computation. The analysis is described in appendix B. The outcome is that in the

(-1)-picture (NS sector) the cohomology is non-zero only at degrees 0, 1, 2, with

$$\dim H^0_{-1}(0) = 1 \tag{4.35}$$

$$\dim H^{1}_{-1}(0) = \dim V^{\text{int}}_{NS}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) + 2 \tag{4.36}$$

$$\dim H_{-1}^2(0) = 1. \tag{4.37}$$

In fact, all states in  $C_{-1}^{i}(0)$  are Q-closed and there are no Q-exact states, so that there is an isomorphism of  $C_{-1}^{i}(0) \cong H_{-1}^{i}(0)$ . In particular,  $H_{-1}^{1}(0)$  is spanned by

$$\psi^{\mu}_{-1/2} e^{-\phi} c_1 |0\rangle, \qquad \mu \in \{+, -\}$$
(4.38)

$$v_{-1/2}^{a}e^{-\phi}c_{1}|0\rangle$$
,  $a = 1, \dots, N = \dim V_{NS}^{\text{int}}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)$ , (4.39)

where  $v^a$ , a = 1, ..., N are the fields of weight 1/2 in  $V^{\text{int}}$ . One has N = 24 for  $F_{24}$ , N = 8 for  $V^{fE_8}$  and N = 0 for  $V^{f\natural}$ . Notice that these states are of the form (4.30). In the (-1/2)-picture, the cohomology is non-zero only at ghost number 1, with

$$\dim H^{1}_{-1/2}(0) = \dim V^{\text{int}}_{R}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right).$$
(4.40)

The description of Ramond states is a bit more complicated, and we refer to [48] and [31] for the cases  $V^{\text{int}} = V^{fE_8}$  and  $V^{\text{int}} = V^{f\natural}$ . When  $V^{\text{int}} = F_{24}$ , one has  $\dim V_R^{\text{int}}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = 0$ , so there is no cohomology for k = 0 at picture number -1/2 or -3/2.

To conclude, the space of physical states is given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{phys}} = \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} (H^1_{-1}(k) \oplus H^1_{-1/2}(k)) \,. \tag{4.41}$$

Notice that the dimensions of the cohomology spaces do not depend on the choice of the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure on  $V^{\text{int}}$ , in particular when  $V^{\text{int}}$  is  $F_{24}$ . However, the representatives of the cohomology classes do depend on this choice and, most importantly, the superalgebra of physical states that we will define in the next section depends on this choice.

#### 4.3 Lie superalgebra of physical states

Let us now exhibit the structure of Lie superalgebra on the space  $\mathcal{H}_{phys}$  of physical states. The starting point is to define a Lie superalgebra structure on the graded complex C. Following [41], we define a Lie bracket  $\{,\}: C_p^n(k) \times C_q^m(k') \to C_{p+q}^{n+m-1}(k+k')$  by

$$\{u, v\} = (-1)^{|u|} (b_{-1}u)_0 v \tag{4.42}$$

where the parity  $|u| \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  of an element  $u \in C_p^n(k)$  is defined by  $|u| = n + 2p + 1 \mod 2$ . This Lie bracket satisfies  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded versions of skew-symmetry and Jacobi identity, and is compatible with the picture changing operator X and BRST charge Q, in the sense that

$$X\{u,v\} = \{Xu,v\} = \{u,Xv\}, \qquad (4.43)$$

$$Q\{u,v\} = \{Qu,v\} + (-1)^{|u|+1}\{u,Qv\}.$$
(4.44)

The latter property ensures that  $\{,\}$  induces a well-defined bracket (which, by slight abuse of notation, we denote by the same symbol)  $\{,\}: H_p^n(k) \times H_q^m(k') \to H_{p+q}^{n+m-1}(k+k')$  on the BRST cohomology — the bracket between Q-closed states is still Q-closed, and the bracket between a Q-exact and a Q-closed state is Q-exact.

One then defines a Lie superalgebra  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_1$ , where the even and the odd components  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  and  $\mathfrak{g}_1$  are given, respectively, by the Neveu-Schwarz and by the Ramond physical states:

$$\mathfrak{g}_0 = \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} H^1_{-1}(k) \qquad \mathfrak{g}_1 = \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} H^1_{-1/2}(k).$$
(4.45)

The Lie bracket [u, v] on classes  $u \in H_p^1(k)$  and  $v \in H_q^1(k')$  is defined by

$$[u,v] = \begin{cases} \{u,v\} \in H^1_{-1}(k+k') & \text{if } p = q = -1/2, \\ X\{u,v\} \in H^1_{p+q+1}(k+k') & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$
(4.46)

In other words, when both u and v are odd (in the Ramond sector), then the bracket [,] coincides with  $\{,\}: H^1_{-1/2}(k) \times H^1_{-1/2}(k') \to H^1_{-1}(k+k')$ ; when one of the elements (say, u) is even (in the NS sector), then one needs first to map it to its 0-picture version  $Xu \in H^1_0(k)$  and then use the bracket  $\{,\}: H^1_0(k) \times H^1_p(k') \to H^1_p(k+k')$ . In particular, the picture changing operator X, and therefore the bracket [,], depends on the choice of the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supercurrent.

This is made more explicit if we take representatives of  $H^1_{-1}(k)$  of the form (4.30), i.e.  $u = c_1 e^{-\phi} |\chi, k\rangle$ , where  $|\chi, k\rangle$  is a state in the matter vertex algebra  $V^m_{NS} = V^{\text{int}}_{NS} \otimes V^{X,\psi}_{NS}$  that is a superconformal primary of weight 1/2 (see eqs. (4.31), (4.32)). Then

$$Xu = Xc_1 e^{-\phi} |\chi, k\rangle = c_1 G^m_{-1/2} |\chi, k\rangle + \gamma_{1/2} |\chi, k\rangle$$
(4.47)

so that

$$b_{-1}Xu = G^m_{-1/2} |\chi, k\rangle \,. \tag{4.48}$$

As a consequence,  $(b_{-1}Xu)_0$  is just the zero mode of the current corresponding to the weight 1 matter state  $G^m_{-1/2}|\chi,k\rangle$ .

The bilinear form  $(\cdot, \cdot)_H$  that non-degenerately pairs  $H_p^n(k)$  with  $H_{-2-p}^{2-n}(-k)$  determines a non-degenerate bilinear form  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$  on  $\mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus \bigoplus_{k \neq 0} \mathfrak{g}_1(k)$ , defined by

$$\langle u|v\rangle = \begin{cases} (u,v)_H & \text{if } u, v \in \mathfrak{g}_0, \\ -(\tilde{u},v)_H & \text{with } u = X\tilde{u} & \text{if } u, v \in \bigoplus_{k \neq 0} \mathfrak{g}_1(k), \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.49)

On  $\mathfrak{g}_1(0) = H^1_{-1/2}(0)$  the bilinear form is in general not defined, because the picture changing operator  $X : H^1_{-3/2}(0) \to H^1_{-1/2}(0)$  is not an isomorphism in this case. In [48] and [31], it was proven that when  $V^{\text{int}}$  is  $V^{fE_8}$  or  $V^{f\natural}$ ,  $\mathfrak{g}_0(0) \oplus \bigoplus_{k\neq 0} \mathfrak{g}(k)$  is a subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , and in particular it is the derived subalgebra  $[\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{g}]$ . When  $V^{\text{int}} = F_{24}$ , one has  $\mathfrak{g}_1(0) = 0$ , so this case is simpler. This form is symmetric when restricted to  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  and antisymmetric when restricted to  $\mathfrak{g}_1$  (see [48], proposition 5.17 for a proof); bilinear forms on a superspace satisfying this property are called supersymmetric. The form  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$  is also invariant, meaning that  $\langle [w, x] | y \rangle = \langle x | [w, y] \rangle$  for all  $x, y, w \in \mathfrak{g}$ ; this properties follows from analogous properties of the bilinear form on the vertex algebras.

**Cartan subalgebra and root multiplicities.** Let us specialize to the case where  $V^{\text{int}} \cong F_{24}$ , and consider the even k = 0 component  $\mathfrak{g}_0(0)$ , which is a finite dimensional Lie subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$  (again,  $\mathfrak{g}_1(0) = 0$ ). Acting by  $b_{-1}X$  on the two states  $\psi_{-1/2}^{\pm}e^{-\phi}c_1|0\rangle$ , we get the weight 1 states  $G_{-1/2}^m\psi_{-1/2}^{\pm}|0\rangle = \alpha_{-1}^{\pm}|0\rangle$  corresponding to the space-time currents  $\partial X^{\pm}$ . The zero modes are  $P^{\pm} = \alpha_0^{\pm}$ , whose eigenvalues are the space-time momenta  $k^+, k^-$ . These operators obey the commutation relations

$$[P^{\mu}, u] = k^{\mu} u \qquad u \in \mathfrak{g}(k), \qquad (4.50)$$

with elements  $u \in \mathfrak{g}$  of definite momentum k. An obvious consequence is that the only generators commuting with both  $P^+$  and  $P^-$  are the ones in the zero momentum component  $\mathfrak{g}(0)$ . When the internal SVOA is  $F_{24}$ , there are 24 further states of the form (4.39) in  $H^1_{-1}(0)$ . The 0-picture version of these states correspond to the 24 currents  $J^a$ , a = $1, \ldots, 24$ , that are superconformal descendants of the weight 1/2 fields  $\lambda^a$ . As described in section 2, the zero modes of these currents generate a semi-simple Lie algebra  $g \subset so(24)$ of dimension 24. Thus, the zero momentum subalgebra  $\mathfrak{g}_0(0)$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  is isomorphic to

$$\mathfrak{g}_0(0) = u(1)^{\oplus 2} \oplus g, \qquad (4.51)$$

with the abelian component  $u(1)^{\oplus 2}$  generated by  $P^+, P^-$ . A maximal abelian subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}_0(0)$  is given by

$$\mathfrak{h} = u(1)^{\oplus 2} \oplus h \,, \tag{4.52}$$

where  $h \subset g$  is a Cartan subalgebra for g, with generators  $\alpha_1^{\vee}, \ldots, \alpha_r^{\vee}$ . For  $V^{\text{int}} = F_{24}$ , the zero momentum odd component  $\mathfrak{g}_1(0)$  is 0, and no other generator with nonzero momentum can commute with  $P^{\mu} \in \mathfrak{h}$ . We conclude that  $\mathfrak{h}$  is actually a maximal abelian subalgebra for the whole  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Thus,  $\mathfrak{g}$  has rank r + 2, where r is the rank of g. We see that, while our construction provided a natural  $\Gamma^{1,1}$ -grading for  $\mathfrak{g}$  in terms of momentum (i.e.,  $P^{\mu}$  eigenvalues), by taking into account the eigenvalues with respect to the remaining rgenerators  $\alpha_1^{\vee}, \ldots, \alpha_r^{\vee}$  of the Cartan algebra, we can now introduce a finer grading for the superalgebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  with values in the lattice

$$\mathfrak{Q}_g := \Gamma^{1,1} \oplus \tilde{Q}_g \cong \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \oplus \tilde{Q}_g \subset \mathfrak{h}^* \,. \tag{4.53}$$

Here,  $\tilde{Q}_g := Q_g \cup (\rho + Q_g) \subseteq P_g$  is the union of the root lattice  $Q_g$  of the finite dimensional algebra g and its translate  $\rho + Q_g$  (see eq. (2.31)). Thus

$$\mathfrak{g} = \oplus_{\hat{k} \in \mathfrak{Q}_a} \mathfrak{g}(\hat{k}), \qquad (4.54)$$

where  $\hat{k} = (m, n, w) \in \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z} \oplus \tilde{Q}_g$ . In particular, the even and odd components are graded as

$$\mathfrak{g}_0 = \bigoplus_{\substack{m,n \in \mathbb{Z} \\ w \in Q_g}} \mathfrak{g}_0(m,n,w) \,, \tag{4.55}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{g}_1 = \bigoplus_{\substack{m,n \in \mathbb{Z} \\ w \in \rho + Q_g}} \mathfrak{g}_1(m,n,w) \,. \tag{4.56}$$

The bilinear form on the cohomology, when restricted to the zero momentum space NS space, defines an invariant non-degenerate bilinear form  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$  on  $\mathfrak{g}_0(0)$  which extends the Cartan-Killing form  $(\cdot | \cdot )_g$  on g. This form satisfies

$$\langle P^+|P^-\rangle = -1, \qquad \langle P^+|P^+\rangle = \langle P^-|P^-\rangle = 0 \qquad (4.57)$$

and both  $P^+$  and  $P^-$  are orthogonal to g. With this choice, one has

$$\hat{k}^2 \equiv \langle m, n, w | m, n, w \rangle = -2mn + (w|w)_g, \qquad (4.58)$$

for  $\hat{k} \equiv (m, n, w) \in \mathfrak{Q}_g$ . We denote by

$$\hat{\Delta} \equiv \hat{\Delta}_0 \cup \hat{\Delta}_1 := \{ \hat{k} \in \mathfrak{Q}_g \mid \mathfrak{g}(\hat{k}) \neq 0 \} \subset \mathfrak{Q}_g \,, \tag{4.59}$$

the set of roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , with  $\hat{\Delta}_0$  and  $\hat{\Delta}_1$  the subsets of even and odd roots, respectively. The bilinear form  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$  restricted to the real spaces

$$\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}} := \mathbb{R}P^+ \oplus \mathbb{R}P^- \oplus (Q_g^{\vee} \otimes \mathbb{R}), \qquad (4.60)$$

and  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}^* := \mathfrak{Q}_g \otimes \mathbb{R}$  is real-valued, with signature (r+1, 1).

Since all (super)ghosts and superconformal generators commute with  $\alpha_1^{\vee}, \ldots, \alpha_r^{\vee}$ , the equivalence between BRST and light-cone quantization is compatible with this finer grading. As a consequence, if we denote by

$$V_{NS}^{\text{int}}(n,w) \qquad n \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}, \ w \in Q_g, \qquad (4.61)$$

the component of the SVOA  $V_{NS}^{\text{int}} \cong F_{24}$  with  $L_0$ -eigenvalue n and  $\alpha_1^{\vee}, \ldots, \alpha_r^{\vee}$ -eigenvalues w and

$$V_R^{\text{int}}(n,w) \qquad n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ w \in \rho + Q_g , \qquad (4.62)$$

the analogous component in the twisted module  $V_R^{\text{int}}$ , one has

$$\dim \mathfrak{g}_0(m, n, w) = \dim V_{NS-}^{\text{int}}(mn, w) = c_{NS-}(nm, w), \qquad (4.63)$$

$$\dim \mathfrak{g}_1(m, n, w) = \dim V_{R\pm}^{\text{int}}(mn, w) = c_{R+}(nm, w) = c_{R-}(nm, w).$$
(4.64)

Here,  $c_{NS-}(nm, w)$  and  $c_{R\pm}(nm, w)$  are the Fourier coefficients of the Jacobi forms (2.28) and (2.29). As discussed in appendix A and section 2.2, general properties of the coefficients of Jacobi forms imply that the dimension of the root spaces  $\mathfrak{g}_0(m, n, w)$  and  $\mathfrak{g}_1(m, n, w)$ depend only on the norm  $-2mn + (w|w)_g$  of the root and on the class [w] of w in the quotient  $P_g/i(Q_q^{\vee})$ . Furthermore, the condition (2.35) implies that

$$\dim \mathfrak{g}(m, n, w) \neq 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \begin{cases} mn \ge 0\\ -2mn + (w|w)_g \le M \end{cases}, \tag{4.65}$$

where M > 0 is a constant depending on the choice of the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  superalgebra: see (2.36).

### 5 The Lie superalgebra g as a Borcherds-Kac-Moody superalgebra

In this section we will prove that the Lie superalgebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  that we constructed in the previous section is a Borcherds-Kac-Moody (BKM) superalgebra. BKM algebras differ from the usual Kac-Moody algebras because the *simple* roots are allowed to have non-positive norm. They can be defined in terms of Chevalley-Serre generators and relations (see for example [47]). In our case, it is useful to use an alternative characterization of BKM superalgebras, which was given by Ray [47], and we begin by describing this below before embarking on the proof.

#### 5.1 Generalities on BKM superalgebras

First, we list some relevant definitions. According to definition 2.3.17 of [47], a root  $\alpha \in \hat{\Delta}$ is said to be of *finite type* if it acts locally nilpotent on  $\mathfrak{g}$ , i.e. if for all  $x \in \mathfrak{g}(\alpha)$  and for all  $y \in \mathfrak{g}$ , there is an integer *n* (possibly depending on *x* and *y*), such that  $(\operatorname{ad} x)^n y = 0$ . A root is said to be of *infinite type* if it is not of finite type. The bound (4.65) on the norm of the roots implies that a root of positive norm is necessarily of finite type. Indeed, if  $\alpha \in \hat{\Delta}$ with  $\langle \alpha | \alpha \rangle > 0$ , then for any  $\beta \in \hat{\Delta}$  we have

$$\langle \beta + n\alpha | \beta + n\alpha \rangle = \langle \beta | \beta \rangle + 2n \langle \alpha | \beta \rangle + n^2 \langle \alpha | \alpha \rangle \xrightarrow{n \to \pm \infty} + \infty.$$
(5.1)

Thus, for sufficiently large n,  $\beta + n\alpha$  is not a root, so that  $(\operatorname{ad} x)^n y = 0$  for all  $x \in \mathfrak{g}(\alpha)$ and  $y \in \mathfrak{g}(\beta)$ .

**Theorem 1 ([47], corollary 2.5.11).** Let  $G = G_0 \oplus G_1$  be a (complex) Lie superalgebra. Suppose that the following conditions are satisfied:

- 1. There is a self-centralizing even subalgebra  $H \subset G$  such that G can be decomposed as a direct sum  $\bigoplus_{\alpha} G_{\alpha}$  of eigenspaces for H, with each eigenspace  $G_{\alpha}$  being finite dimensional. A non-zero eigenvalue  $\alpha \in H^*$  is called a root of G.
- 2. There is a non-degenerate, supersymmetric, invariant bilinear form  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$  on G, with respect to which  $G_0$  and  $G_1$  are orthogonal to each other.
- 3. The algebra H admits a real form  $H_{\mathbb{R}}$  such that the restriction of  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$  to  $H_{\mathbb{R}}$  is real (so that  $H_{\mathbb{R}} \cong H_{\mathbb{R}}^*$ ). Furthermore,  $H_{\mathbb{R}}^* \cong H_{\mathbb{R}}$  contains all roots.
- There is an element h ∈ H<sub>ℝ</sub> (a regular element) that is not orthogonal to any root and such that for all N > 0 there is only a finite number of roots α such that 0 < |α(h)| < N. A root is called positive if α(h) > 0 and negative if α(h) < 0.</li>
- 5. For any  $\alpha, \beta$  of infinite type or of zero norm that are both positive or both negative, one has  $\langle \alpha | \beta \rangle \leq 0$ . Moreover, if  $\langle \alpha | \beta \rangle = 0$  and if  $x \in G_{\alpha}$  is such that  $[x, G_{-\gamma}] = 0$ for all roots  $\gamma$  with  $|\gamma(h)| < |\alpha(h)|$ , then  $[x, G_{\beta}] = 0$ .

Then, G is a Borcherds-Kac-Moody superalgebra.

#### 5.2 Proof that $\mathfrak{g}$ is a BKM superalgebra

Using the characterization of BKM superalgebras presented in the previous subsection, we can prove that the Lie superalgebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ , constructed in section 4.3, is a BKM superalgebra. The following lemma will prove to be a useful intermediate step.

**Lemma 1.** Let  $\eta \in Q_g^{\vee} \subset h$  be an element of the Cartan subalgebra of g such that  $\alpha(\eta) \neq 0$  for all non-zero roots  $\alpha \in \Delta_g$  of g. Then, there exists a positive integer L such that the element  $\mathbf{h} = -LP^+ - LP^- + \eta \in \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$  in the real Cartan subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$  satisfies the following properties:

- 1. if  $\gamma = (m, n, w) \in \hat{\Delta}_q$  is a non-zero root of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , then  $\gamma(h) \neq 0$ ;
- 2. if  $\gamma = (m, n, w) \in \hat{\Delta}_q$  with m > 0 or n > 0, then  $\gamma(h) > 0$ ;
- 3. for all N > 0, there are only a finite number of roots  $\gamma \in \hat{\Delta}_q$  such that  $0 < |\gamma(\mathsf{h})| < N$ ;
- $\begin{array}{ll} \text{4. if } \alpha = (m,n,w) \in \hat{\Delta}_g, \text{ with } \langle \alpha | \alpha \rangle \equiv -2mn + (w|w) = 0, \text{ is a non-zero null root of } \mathfrak{g}, \\ \text{ and } \gamma = (0,0,w') \in \hat{\Delta}_g \text{ is a root with } \gamma(P^+) = \gamma(P^-) = 0, \text{ then } |\alpha(\mathsf{h})| > |\gamma(\mathsf{h})|. \end{array}$

*Proof.* We take L to be very large, so that, in particular,

$$\langle \mathsf{h}|\mathsf{h}\rangle = -L^2 + (\eta|\eta) < 0.$$
(5.2)

Let us prove the h is not orthogonal to any root, for L large enough. If  $\gamma = (m, n, w) \in \hat{\Delta}$  is a root with  $(m, n) \neq (0, 0)$ , then by (4.65) one has

$$w(\eta)^2 \le (\eta|\eta)(w|w) \le (\eta|\eta)(M+2mn)$$
(5.3)

so that

$$L^{2}(m+n)^{2} - w(\eta)^{2} \ge L^{2}(m^{2}+n^{2}) + 2mn(L^{2} - (\eta|\eta)) - (\eta|\eta)M \ge L^{2} - (\eta|\eta)M > 0 \quad (5.4)$$

where we used that  $mn \ge 0$  by (4.65), that  $L^2 - (\eta|\eta) = -\langle \mathsf{h}|\mathsf{h}\rangle > 0$ , that  $m^2 + n^2 \ge 1$ for m, n not both null, and that for L large enough  $L^2 > (\eta|\eta)M$ . This means that a root  $\gamma = (m, n, w)$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  with  $(m, n) \ne (0, 0)$  is positive  $\gamma(\mathsf{h}) = L(m + n) + w(\eta) > 0$  if and only if  $m, n \ge 0$  (notice the m and n cannot have opposite sign, since for a root  $mn \ge 0$ ). If  $\gamma = (m, n, w)$  is a root of  $\mathfrak{g}$  with m = n = 0, then w must be a root of g; then,  $\gamma(\mathsf{h}) > 0$  if and only if  $w(\eta) > 0$ , i.e. if w is a positive root of g. This shows that no root is orthogonal to  $\mathsf{h}$ .

Without loss of generality, we can assume that h is a primitive vector in the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}P^+ \oplus \mathbb{Z}P^- \oplus Q^{\vee} \subset \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$ . If we denote by  $\mathfrak{P} = \Gamma^{1,1} \oplus P_g \subset \mathfrak{h}^*$  the dual lattice, then there exists  $u \in \mathfrak{P}$  such that  $u(\mathfrak{h}) = 1$ . Any root  $\gamma \in \hat{\Delta}_g \subset \mathfrak{Q} \subseteq \mathfrak{P}$  can be uniquely decomposed as  $tu + \gamma_{\perp}$ , where  $t = \gamma(\mathfrak{h}) \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\gamma_{\perp} \in \mathfrak{P} \cap \mathfrak{h}^{\perp}$ . By (4.65)  $\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle \leq M$ , so that for each fixed  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$  there is an upper bound B(t) > 0 such that  $\langle \gamma_{\perp} | \gamma_{\perp} \rangle \leq B(t)$  for all  $ut + \gamma_{\perp} \in \hat{\Delta}$ . Since  $\mathfrak{P} \cap \mathfrak{h}^{\perp}$  is a positive definite lattice, for each  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$  there are only finitely many  $\gamma_{\perp} \in \mathfrak{P} \cap \mathfrak{h}^{\perp}$  satisfying this bound, and therefore finitely many roots with  $\gamma(\mathfrak{h}) = t$ . This proves point 3.

As for point 4, it is sufficient to prove it for  $\alpha = (m, n, w) \in \overline{\Delta}$  a null root with  $\alpha(h) > 0$ . Suppose first that  $w \neq 0$ , so that  $2mn = (w|w) \neq 0$ . Let  $\gamma = (0, 0, w')$  be another non-zero root of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , where w' is a root of g. Let us prove that  $|\gamma(h)| < \alpha(h)$  for sufficiently large L. We have

$$\alpha(\mathbf{h}) = L(m+n) + w(\eta) \ge L(m+n) - \sqrt{(w|w)(\eta|\eta)} = L(m+n) - \sqrt{2mn(\eta|\eta)} \,.$$
(5.5)

Set  $y = \sqrt{\frac{m}{n}}$  (recall that  $mn \neq 0$ ), so that

$$\alpha(\mathsf{h}) \ge n \left[ L(y^2 + 1) - \sqrt{2(\eta|\eta)}y \right] \,. \tag{5.6}$$

As a function of y, the right-hand side has a minimum at  $y = \frac{\sqrt{2(\eta|\eta)}}{2L}$  with value  $nL\left(1 - \frac{(\eta|\eta)}{2L}\right)$ , so that

$$\alpha(\mathsf{h}) \ge nL\left(1 - \frac{(\eta|\eta)}{2L}\right) \ge L\left(1 - \frac{(\eta|\eta)}{2L}\right) > 0.$$
(5.7)

Since there are only finitely many roots of the form  $\gamma = (0, 0, w'), w' \in \Delta_g$ , one can choose L sufficiently large so that

$$|\gamma(\mathbf{h})| = |w'(\eta)| < L\left(1 - \frac{(\eta|\eta)}{2L}\right) \le \alpha(\mathbf{h}), \qquad (5.8)$$

for all roots w' of g. Now, suppose that  $\alpha = (m, n, w) \neq 0$  is a positive null root with w = 0. This implies mn = 0, so that either m = 0 or n = 0, but not both. Thus, for sufficiently large L, we have

$$\alpha(\mathsf{h}) = L(m+n) \ge L > |w'(\eta)| = |\gamma(\mathsf{h})|,$$

for all roots w' of g.

We are now ready to prove the main theorem:

#### **Theorem 2.** g is a BKM superalgebra.

Proof. The subalgebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  constructed in the previous subsection is a self-centralizing even subalgebra, and all components  $\mathfrak{g}(\alpha)$  in the decomposition  $\bigoplus_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{Q}_g} \mathfrak{g}(\alpha)$  are finite dimensional. As a real form  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$ , we can take the real algebra generated by  $P^{\mu}$ ,  $\mu \in \{+, -\}$  and by the coroots  $\alpha_1^{\vee}, \ldots, \alpha_r^{\vee}$ ; the latter generate a Cartan subalgebra of the compact real form of the finite dimensional Lie algebra g. The dual space  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}^*$  contains the root lattice  $\mathfrak{Q} = \Gamma^{1,1} \oplus \tilde{Q}_g$ , and therefore all roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . The non-degenerate bilinear form satisfies all the required properties:  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$  is non-degenerate, supersymmetric, invariant, and  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  is orthogonal to  $\mathfrak{g}_1$ . Its restriction to  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$  is real with signature (r + 1, 1). Eq. (4.65) implies that the norms of the roots are bounded from above. As a regular element, we can take an element  $\mathfrak{h} \in \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$  as in lemma 1, which clearly satisfies the properties in point 4.

To complete the proof, we just need to establish point 5. As discussed above, a root of infinite type in  $\mathfrak{g}$  cannot have positive norm. For a lattice of Lorentzian signature, if  $\alpha, \beta$  are both positive or both negative of non-positive norm, then they belong to the

same connected component of the cone of non-positive norm vectors, so that their product automatically satisfies  $\langle \alpha | \beta \rangle \leq 0$ . Furthermore, one has  $\langle \alpha | \beta \rangle = 0$  if and only if  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ are both null and are proportional to each other. Let  $\alpha = (m, n, w) \in \hat{\Delta}$  be any non-zero null root of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . By lemma 1, any  $\gamma = (0, 0, w') \in \hat{\Delta}$  satisfies  $|\gamma(\mathfrak{h})| < |\alpha(\mathfrak{h})|$ . Let us prove that a non-zero element  $x \in \mathfrak{g}(\alpha)$  cannot commute with  $\mathfrak{g}(0, 0, -w')$  for all  $0 \neq w' \in \Delta_g$ . If  $w \neq 0$ , then x belongs to a non-trivial representation of the finite Lie algebra g, so it cannot commute with all generators of  $g_+$  and  $g_-$ . When w = 0, since  $\alpha = (m, n, 0)$  is null and non-zero, one has that either m = 0 or n = 0, but not both. For such m, n, one has that (m, n, w) is a root of  $\hat{g}$  if and only if w is a root of g, and  $\bigoplus_{w \in \Delta} \mathfrak{g}(m, n, w)$ forms a 24-dimensional adjoint representation of g. This means that no non-zero element  $x \in \mathfrak{g}(\alpha) \subset \bigoplus_{w \in \Delta} \mathfrak{g}(m, n, w)$  can commute with all  $\mathfrak{g}(-\gamma)$  for all  $\gamma$  of the form (0, 0, w').

#### 5.3 Simple roots and Weyl vector

In this section, we discuss some of the simple roots of the BKM algebras  $\mathfrak{g}$  and the existence of a Weyl vector. A complete description of all simple roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$  requires a case by case treatment. In section 6 we perform this analysis for the BKM algebra corresponding to  $A_1^8$ , while we leave the other cases to future work.

**Proposition 1.** Let  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_r \in \Delta_g$  be the simple roots of g. If g is the sum  $g = \bigoplus_{k=1}^n g_k$ of n simple components  $g_k$ ,  $k = 1, \ldots, n$ , let  $\theta_k \in \Delta_g$  be the highest root of  $g_k$ . Then  $\hat{\alpha}_i := (0, 0, \alpha_i), i = 1, \ldots, r, \ \delta_k^+ := (1, 0, -\theta_k), \ \delta_k^- = (0, 1, -\theta_k), \ k = 1, \ldots, n, \ are \ real$ simple roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . For each  $k = 1, \ldots, n$ , let  $I_k \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r\}$  be such that  $\{\alpha_i\}_{i \in I_k}$  is the set of simple roots of  $g_k$ , and set  $D_k^+ := \{\hat{\alpha}_i\}_{i \in I_k} \cup \{\delta_k^+\}$  and  $D_k^- := \{\hat{\alpha}_i\}_{i \in I_k} \cup \{\delta_k^-\}$ . Then, the subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$  generated by  $\mathfrak{h} \oplus \bigoplus_{\pm \gamma \in D_k^+} \mathfrak{g}(\gamma)$  and the subalgebra generated by  $\mathfrak{h} \oplus \bigoplus_{\pm \gamma \in D_k^-} \mathfrak{g}(\gamma)$  are both isomorphic to the affine Kac-Moody algebra  $\hat{g}_k$ .

Proof. A root  $\alpha = (m, n, w)$  is positive if  $m, n \geq 0$  and, in the case m = n = 0, if w is a positive root of g, i.e.  $w \in \Delta_g^+$ . Therefore,  $\hat{\alpha}_i := (0, 0, \alpha_i)$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, r$  are necessarily simple. The space  $\mathfrak{g}(1, 0) := \bigoplus_{w \in P_g} \mathfrak{g}(1, 0, w)$  is 24 dimensional and transforms in the adjoint representation of g, so (1, 0, w) is in  $\hat{\Delta}$  if and only if  $w \in \Delta_g$ . The only way to obtain a root of the form (1, 0, w) as a sum over positive roots is as (1, 0, w) = (1, 0, w - w') + (0, 0, w')where  $w' \in \Delta_g^+$  and  $w - w' \in \Delta_g$ . But if  $w = -\theta_k$ , then  $(1, 0, -\theta_k - w')$  is not in  $\hat{\Delta}$  for any  $w' \in \Delta_g^+$ , so  $(1, 0, -\theta_k)$  must be a simple root. An analogous result holds for roots of the form  $(0, 1, -\theta_k)$ . For the last statement, it is sufficient to notice that, if  $\{\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \ldots\}$ is a set of real simple roots equal to either  $D_k^+$  or  $D_k^-$ , then the matrix  $(A_{ij}) = \langle \gamma_i | \gamma_j \rangle$  is the Cartan matrix of the affine Kac-Moody algebra  $\hat{g}_k$ , so the subalgebra generated by the corresponding root elements must be isomorphic to  $\hat{g}_k$ .

We stress that, while the simple real roots  $\hat{\alpha}_i = (0, 0, \alpha_i)$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, r, \delta_k^+ = (1, 0, -\theta_k)$ ,  $k = 1, \ldots, n$ , span the space  $\mathfrak{h}^*$ , this does not necessarily mean that they form a complete set of real simple roots. For example, in section 6, we will show that in the case  $g = A_1^8$  there are infinitely many real simple roots.

Let  $\rho = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \rho_k$  be the Weyl vector of the algebra  $g = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{n} g_k$ , with  $\rho_k$  the Weyl vector of the simple component  $g_k$ . The Weyl vector obeys the usual property

$$(\rho|\alpha_i) = \frac{1}{2}(\alpha_i|\alpha_i).$$
(5.9)

Furthermore, with the normalization we have chosen for the Killing form, we obtain

$$(\theta_k | \theta_k) = \frac{2}{h_{g_k}^{\vee}}, \qquad (\rho | \theta_k) = (\rho_k | \theta_k) = 1 - \frac{1}{h_{g_k}^{\vee}}.$$
 (5.10)

Thus, if we define  $\hat{\rho} = (-1, -1, \rho) \in \mathfrak{Q}_g$ , we get

$$\langle \hat{\rho} | \hat{\alpha}_i \rangle = (\rho | \alpha_i) = \frac{1}{2} \langle \alpha_i | \alpha_i \rangle,$$
 (5.11)

and

$$\langle \hat{\rho} | \delta_k^{\pm} \rangle = 1 - (\rho | \theta_k) = \frac{1}{h_{g_k}^{\vee}} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \delta_k^{\pm} | \delta_k^{\pm} \rangle .$$

$$(5.12)$$

The condition that  $\langle \hat{\rho} | \alpha \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \langle \alpha | \alpha \rangle$  for all simple roots  $\alpha$  is the defining property of a Weyl vector for the algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Since the space  $\mathfrak{h}^*$  is spanned by the simple real roots  $\hat{\alpha}_1, \ldots, \hat{\alpha}_r$ ,  $\delta_k^+, \delta_k^-$ , we conclude that if the algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  admits a Weyl vector, then it must be equal to

$$\hat{\rho} = (-1, -1, \rho) \in \mathfrak{Q}_g. \tag{5.13}$$

To verify that this is actually the Weyl vector of the algebra, one must check that it satisfies the defining properties with respect to *all* the real and imaginary simple roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . In section 6.4 we prove that the BKM algebra corresponding to  $g = A_1^8$  coincides with an algebra studied by Borcherds [5–8], who showed that the Weyl vector is indeed  $\hat{\rho}$ . We conjecture that the Weyl vector exists, and therefore coincides with  $\hat{\rho}$ , for all the other cases as well, but we leave the proof for future work. Based on this conjecture, in the following we refer to  $\hat{\rho}$  as the Weyl vector of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Note that even if  $\hat{\rho}$  only satisfies the defining properties with respect to the real simple roots, it may still be used to construct the denominator formula, as we discuss in section 5.4 below. By (3.5), we obtain

$$\langle \hat{\rho} | \hat{\rho} \rangle = -2 + (\rho | \rho) = 0, \qquad (5.14)$$

so that the Weyl vector has zero norm. Finally, we notice that  $-\hat{\rho} = (1, 1, -\rho)$  is an odd simple root; this follows from the fact that, for  $V^{\text{int}} = F_{24}$ , one has  $H^1_{-1/2}(k) \cong V_R^{\text{int}}\left(-\frac{k^2}{2}+\frac{1}{2}\right)$  is nonzero only for  $-\frac{k^2}{2}+\frac{1}{2} \ge 3/2$ . Given that  $k^2 = -2mn$ , this means that  $mn \ge 1$ . For m = n = 1, one has that  $H^1_{-1/2}(k) \cong V_R^{\text{int}}\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)$  which is the sum of irreducible representations of g with lowest weight  $-\rho$ . This implies that  $(1, 1, -\rho)$  cannot be obtained as a sum of positive roots, and therefore it is simple.

If  $\gamma \in \hat{\Delta}$  is a root of non-zero norm, it makes sense to consider the reflection  $r_{\gamma}$  with respect to hyperplane perpendicular to  $\gamma$ 

$$r_{\gamma}(\beta) = \beta - \frac{2\langle \gamma | \beta \rangle}{\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle} \gamma, \qquad (5.15)$$

where  $\beta \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ . Following [47], we define the Weyl group W of the infinite dimensional BKM algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  as the group generated by reflections  $r_{\gamma}$ , where the root  $\gamma$  is even and real (and therefore automatically of finite type and non-zero norm). As in the finite dimensional case, the Weyl group preserves the bilinear form

$$\langle \mathbf{w}(\alpha) | \mathbf{w}(\beta) \rangle = \langle \alpha | \beta \rangle, \qquad \mathbf{w} \in W,$$
(5.16)

for all  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ .

Notice that the real roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$  are always even. Indeed, it is well-known that real roots in BKM algebras have multiplicity 1 [47]. Formulas (2.26) and (2.29) show that the multiplicities of all odd roots are a multiple of  $2^{r/2-1}$ , where  $r \ge 4$  is the rank of the algebra g. This implies that there are no odd real roots, i.e. all odd roots  $\gamma$  satisfy  $\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle \le 0$ .

With our knowledge of the roots, we can now study some interesting representation theoretic, automorphic functions associated with our BKM superalgebras  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

#### 5.4 Denominator and superdenominator

As in the case of finite or Kac-Moody Lie (super)algebras, BKM (super)algebras with Weyl vectors possess a version of the Weyl-Kac character formula which, when one considers the character of the trivial module, produces a Weyl-Kac denominator identity. Each side of the denominator identity contains valuable information about the root spaces, root space multiplicities, and (real and imaginary) simple roots of the algebra in question, and takes the form of an equality between two very different formulations of a given modular or automorphic object. In certain nice examples, like the Monster BKM, knowledge of both sides of the denominator identity is sufficient to determine the algebra itself. Furthermore, in the ordinary Kac-Moody case, the Weyl-Kac denominator is itself the character for a module whose highest weight is the Weyl vector; again, this holds for some particularly simple low-rank BKMs (see [43] for the proof in the Monster case).<sup>12</sup>

Let us now write down the (super-)denominator formula for our BKM algebra. First we introduce some generalities. Let  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_1$  be a BKM superalgebra with even and odd components  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  and  $\mathfrak{g}_1$ , respectively. Let us denote the roots by  $\alpha \in \hat{\Delta}$  and set

$$m_0(\alpha) = \dim(\mathfrak{g}_\alpha \cap \mathfrak{g}_0), \qquad m_1(\alpha) = \dim(\mathfrak{g}_\alpha \cap \mathfrak{g}_1) = \operatorname{mult}(\alpha) - m_0(\alpha).$$
 (5.17)

We further denote the positive even or odd roots by  $\hat{\Delta}_0^+, \hat{\Delta}_1^+$ , respectively. Let I be an index set, indexing the simple roots  $\alpha_i$ . Any root  $\alpha$  may then be expanded as  $\alpha = \sum_{i \in I} k_i \alpha_i$  and we define the *height* of  $\alpha$  to be

$$ht(\alpha) = \sum_{i \in I} k_i.$$
(5.18)

We also define the "even height" as

$$ht_0(\alpha) = \sum_{i \in I \setminus S} k_i, \tag{5.19}$$

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ It is known that this cannot hold for general BKMs since, for instance, there are known examples of BKMs that do not have a Weyl vector.

where  $S \subseteq I$  indexes only the odd roots. Before we can state the denominator formulas we introduce the following sums

$$T = e^{-\hat{\rho}} \sum_{\mu} (-1)^{ht(\mu)} e^{\mu}, \qquad T' = e^{-\hat{\rho}} \sum_{\mu} (-1)^{ht_0(\mu)} e^{\mu}, \qquad (5.20)$$

where  $\hat{\rho}$  is the Weyl vector. The sums here are taken over all sums  $\mu$  of distinct pairwise orthogonal imaginary simple roots.

We now have all the ingredients to state the desired formulas. For any super BKM  $\mathfrak{g}$ we have the *denominator* formula

$$\frac{e^{-\hat{\rho}} \prod_{\alpha \in \hat{\Delta}_{0}^{+}} (1 - e^{\alpha})^{m_{0}(\alpha)}}{\prod_{\alpha \in \hat{\Delta}_{1}^{+}} (1 + e^{\alpha})^{m_{1}(\alpha)}} = \sum_{\mathbf{w} \in W} \det(\mathbf{w}) \mathbf{w}(T),$$
(5.21)

and, in addition, we have the super-denominator formula

$$\frac{e^{-\hat{\rho}} \prod_{\alpha \in \hat{\Delta}_{0}^{+}} (1 - e^{\alpha})^{m_{0}(\alpha)}}{\prod_{\alpha \in \hat{\Delta}_{1}^{+}} (1 - e^{\alpha})^{m_{1}(\alpha)}} = \sum_{\mathbf{w} \in W} \det(\mathbf{w}) \mathbf{w}(T').$$
(5.22)

For obvious reasons we call the left hand side the product side and the right hand side the sum side of the denominator formula. The sum side is sometimes referred to as the denominator function. Thus the denominator formula provides a product representation of the denominator function.

Let us now discuss the denominator formulas for the super BKM  $\mathfrak{g}$  constructed in section 5. Recall from section 4.3 that a root  $\alpha$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  is parametrized by (m, n, w) and the root multiplicities are given by

$$m_0(\alpha) = c_{NS-}(mn, w),$$
  $m_1(\alpha) = c_{R+}(mn, w) = c_{R-}(mn, w),$  (5.23)

where  $c_{NS-}(mn, w)$  and  $c_{R\pm}(mn, w)$  are the Fourier coefficients of the Jacobi forms  $\phi_{NS-}(\tau,\xi)$  and  $\phi_{R\pm}(\tau,\xi)$  constructed in section 2.2. The Weyl vector of  $\mathfrak{g}$  was found in section 5 to be

$$\hat{\rho} = (-1, -1, \rho). \tag{5.24}$$

/

Combining everything, we deduce that the product side of the denominator formula becomes

$$pqe^{-\rho} \prod_{w \in \Delta_g^+} (1-e^w)^{c_{NS-}(0,w)} \prod_{\substack{m,n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \\ (m,n) \neq (0,0)}} \prod_{w \in \tilde{Q}_g} \frac{(1-p^m q^n e^w)^{c_{NS-}(mn,w)}}{(1+p^m q^n e^w)^{c_{R+}(mn,w)}}.$$
 (5.25)

Here g denotes the underlying finite-dimensional subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$  and the zero momentum contribution  $e^{-\rho_g} \prod_{\ell > 0} (1 - e^w)^{c_{NS-}(0,w)}$  coincides with the Weyl denominator formula of g.

Similarly, the product side of the super-denominator formula takes the form

$$pqe^{-\rho} \prod_{w \in \Delta_g^+} (1-e^w)^{c_{NS-}(0,w)} \prod_{\substack{m,n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}\\(m,n) \neq (0,0)}} \prod_{w \in \tilde{Q}_g} \frac{(1-p^m q^n e^w)^{c_{NS-}(mn,w)}}{(1-p^m q^n e^w)^{c_{R-}(mn,w)}}.$$
 (5.26)

# 6 The example of $g = A_1^8$

We conclude this note by illustrating the formal properties of our BKMs  $\mathfrak{g}$  in the simplest concrete example: when the choice of  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure in  $F_{24}$  produces currents generating the Lie algebra  $g = A_1^8$ . In particular, we will discuss the root spaces and their multiplicities and the Weyl group of this BKM.

#### 6.1 Construction

The  $F_{24}$  theory with  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure of type  $A_1^8$  has a symmetry  $\mathrm{SU}(2)^8 \rtimes S_8 \subset O(24)$ preserving the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  current. The corresponding finite dimensional Lie algebra  $g = su(2)^8$ has dual Coxeter number  $h^{\vee} = 2$  for all simple components, so that the roots of g have length  $\frac{2}{h_g^{\vee}} = 1$ . The root, coroot and weight lattices are, respectively,  $Q = \mathbb{Z}^{\oplus 8}$ ,  $Q^{\vee} = (2\mathbb{Z})^{\oplus 8}$ ,  $P = \left(\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}\right)^{\oplus 8}$ . The Weyl vector is  $\rho = \left(\frac{1}{2}, \ldots, \frac{1}{2}\right)$  with norm  $(\rho|\rho) = 2$ , and the highest roots are  $\theta_k = (0, \ldots, 0, 1, 0, \ldots, 0)$  with the 1 at the k-th position,  $k = 1, \ldots, 8$ . The even roots  $(m, n, w) \in \hat{\Delta}$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  have w valued in the root lattice  $Q \subset P_g$ , while the odd roots have w in  $\rho + Q \subset P_g$ . The root lattice of the BKM algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  is  $\mathfrak{Q} = \Gamma^{1,1} \oplus \tilde{Q}_g$ , where  $\tilde{Q}_g = Q_g \cup (\rho + Q_g) = \mathbb{Z}^{\oplus 8} \cup \left(\frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}\right)^{\oplus 8}$ . The dual lattice

$$\tilde{Q}_g^* = \left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_8) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\oplus 8} \mid \sum_i x_i \in 2\mathbb{Z} \right\} \cong D_8$$
(6.1)

is an even lattice isomorphic to the root lattice  $D_8$ .

#### 6.2 Description of real roots

In order to find the multiplicities of the real roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , we proceed as follows. If  $\gamma = (m, n, w) \in \hat{\Delta}_0$  is an even root, we know that the multiplicity  $m_0(m, n, w)$  is the Fourier coefficient  $c_{NS-}(mn, w)$  of the Jacobi form  $\phi_{NS-}(\tau, \xi)$ . As explained in appendix A, this multiplicity depends only on the class of w in  $Q_g/\tilde{Q}_g^* \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$  and on the norm  $\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle = -2mn + (w|w)$ . In fact, in this case, the norm -2mn + (w|w) is an even or odd integer depending on whether the class of w is trivial or not in  $Q_g/\tilde{Q}_g^* \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$ . Thus, it is sufficient to choose a representative w for each class in  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ , and check for which n one has  $c_{NS-}(n, w) \neq 0$ ; recall that this is the number of states of g-weight w in  $F_{24}$  with negative fermion number and  $L_0 - \frac{1}{2} = n$ . The multiplicities of real roots correspond to  $c_{NS-}(n, w)$  with 2n < (w|w), so there are only a finite number of states to check in order to find all real root multiplicities.

For the trivial class in  $Q_g/\tilde{Q}_g^*$ , the shortest vector is w = 0, and the lowest n for which  $c_{NS-}(n,0) \neq 0$  is n = 0, with  $c_{NS-}(0,0) = 8$ . The corresponding vectors of weight  $n + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2}$  in  $F_{24}$  are of the form  $\lambda_{-1/2}^i |0\rangle$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 8$ , where  $\lambda^i$  are the 8 free fermions corresponding to the Cartan subalgebra of g. This means that all non-zero even roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$  with zero norm have multiplicity  $c_{NS-}(0,0) = 8$ . Furthermore, all even roots  $\gamma = (m,n,w) \in \hat{\Delta}_0$  with w in the trivial class of  $Q_g/\tilde{Q}_g^* \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$  (equivalently,  $\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ ) have norm at most 0; in particular, there are no real roots with even norm.

For the non-trivial class in  $Q_g/\bar{Q}_g^*$ , a short vector is given by  $\theta_1$ , and the first non-zero Fourier coefficient is  $c_{NS-}(0,\theta_1) = 1$ , corresponding to a state  $\lambda_{-1/2}^{\theta_1}|0\rangle$ , where  $\lambda^{\theta_1}$  is the free fermion corresponding to the root  $\theta_1$ . Thus, all roots  $\gamma = (m, n, w)$  with w in the non-trivial class (equivalently, with  $\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1$ ) have  $\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle \leq 1$ . We conclude that the even real roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$  are exactly the vectors  $(m, n, w) \in \mathfrak{Q}_g$  with norm 1, and their multiplicity is  $c_{NS-}(0, \theta_1) = 1$ , as expected.

As for the odd roots, there are again two classes of w in  $(\rho + Q_g)/\tilde{Q}_g^*$ , with shortest representatives  $-\rho$  and  $-\rho + \theta_1$ , both of square length  $(\rho|\rho) = (\theta_1 - \rho|\theta_1 - \rho) = 2$ . For both these representatives, the smallest n for which  $c_{R\pm}(n, w) \neq 0$  is n = 1, corresponding to Ramond ground states of weight  $n + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{3}{2}$ , and both with multiplicity  $c_{R\pm}(1, w) =$  $2^{2/r} - 1 = 8$  (formulas (2.26) and (2.29) imply that all  $c_{R\pm}(n, w)$  are multiple of  $2^{r/2-1}$ ). Thus, the odd roots have maximal norm  $-2n + (\rho|\rho) = -2n + (\theta_1 - \rho|\theta_1 - \rho) = 0$  and in particular there are no odd real roots. This is consistent with the observation that odd roots cannot have multiplicity 1. The fact that the coefficients  $c_{R\pm}(1, w)$  are the same for w in the two classes of

$$(\rho + Q_g)/\tilde{Q}_q^*$$

is not a coincidence: the coefficients  $c_{R\pm}(n, w)$  are invariant under the Weyl group of  $su(2)^{\oplus 8}$ , and some elements in this Weyl group exchange a vector w in one class of

$$(
ho + Q_g)/Q_g^*$$

with a vector of the same norm in the other class. As a consequence,  $c_{R\pm}(n, w)$  only depend on the discriminant 2n - (w|w); equivalently, the multiplicity of odd roots  $\gamma = (m, n, w)$ only depends on their norm  $\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle = -2mn + (w|w)$ .

# 6.3 Weyl group

Let us now consider the Weyl group of the BKM algebra g, which is generated by reflections with respect to real roots. As discussed above, the even root lattice  $\Gamma^{1,1} \oplus \mathbb{Z}^8$  is the (unique, up to isomorphisms) odd unimodular lattice  $I^{9,1}$  of signature (9,1), and the real roots are all vectors of norm 1 in this lattice. The Weyl group W of  $\mathfrak{g}$  is the group of automorphisms of  $I^{9,1}$  generated by reflections with respect to norm 1 vectors. This reflection group is studied in [9, 10]. As usual, one splits the set  $\hat{\Delta}^{\text{real}}$  of real roots into the disjoint union  $\hat{\Delta}^{\text{real}} = \hat{\Delta}^{\text{real}}_{+} \sqcup \hat{\Delta}^{\text{real}}_{-}$  of positive and negative ones, depending on the sign of the product with a regular element. There is an infinite number of simple real roots (i.e. positive roots that cannot be written as sum of other positive roots), whose corresponding reflections generate W. Simple roots are characterized as the vectors of norm 1 that have inner product 1/2 with the vector  $\hat{\rho} = (-1, -1, \rho)$ . The set of simple roots can be identified with the vectors of the affine  $E_8$  lattice, in the sense that, for any choice of an arbitrary fixed simple root  $x_0$ , the set of vectors  $x - x_0$ , where x is any simple root, form a copy of the  $E_8$ lattice. The full group  $\tilde{W}$  of reflection automorphisms of  $I^{9,1}$  is strictly larger than W, and includes reflections with respect to vectors of norm 2. It is also finitely generated, and the quotient  $\tilde{W}/W$  is isomorphic to the affine Weyl group of  $E_8$ ,  $W^{aff}(E_8) = E_8 \rtimes W(E_8)$ . The group  $W^{\text{aff}}(E_8)$  acts on the set of simple roots of W:  $W(E_8)$  is the subgroup that fixes a given simple root (say  $x_0$ ), while the  $E_8$  factor in  $W^{\text{aff}}(E_8)$  acts by translations by  $E_8$  lattice vectors. Since the multiplicities of both the odd and the even roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$  only depend on their norm, they are actually invariant under the full group of automorphisms of  $I^{1,9}$ , and in particular under  $\tilde{W}$ .

#### 6.4 Root multiplicities and denominator formulas

In order to find the root multiplicities for all roots of the algebra, it is more useful to adopt a different description of the  $F_{24}$  SVOA with the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structure corresponding to  $A_1^8$ . We bosonize the 8 pairs of fermions  $\lambda^{\theta_k}, \lambda^{-\theta_k}, k = 1, \ldots, 8$ , by replacing them by 8 chiral free scalars  $Y^1, \ldots, Y^8$  compactified on  $\mathbb{Z}^8$ , by setting  $i\partial Y^k =: \lambda^{\theta_k}\lambda^{-\theta_k}$ : and  $\lambda^{\pm \theta_k} = e^{\pm iY^k}$ . The remaining 8 fermions, corresponding to the Cartan subalgebra of  $A_1^8$ are now interpreted as the superpartners of the currents  $\partial Y^k$ . In this description, it is easy to obtain the NS partition function

$$\phi_{NS}(\tau,\xi) = \frac{\Theta_{\mathbb{Z}^8}(\tau,\xi)}{\eta(\tau)^8} \times \frac{\theta_3(\tau)^4}{\eta(\tau)^4}, \qquad (6.2)$$

where the first factor comes from the free scalars  $Y^i$  and the second from the 8 free fermions, their superpartners. We are interested in the function  $\phi_{NS-}$  counting the negative fermion number states, which is obtained from  $\phi_{NS}$  by keeping only the integral powers of q. It is convenient to split the theta function as

$$\Theta_{\mathbb{Z}^8}(\tau, z) = \Theta_{D_8}(\tau, z) + \Theta_{v+D_8}(\tau, z), \qquad (6.3)$$

where  $\Theta_{D_8}$  contains only integral powers of q and  $\Theta_{v+D_8}$  only the half-integral ones. Here,  $D_8$  is the lattice (6.1),  $v + D_8$  is the translate

$$v + D_8 = \left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_8) \in \mathbb{Z}^8 \mid \sum_i x_i \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1 \right\},$$
 (6.4)

of  $D_8$  by v = (1, 0, ..., 0), and we used  $\mathbb{Z}^8 = D_8 \cup (v + D_8)$ . We perform a similar splitting of the function  $f(\tau) = \frac{\theta_3(\tau)^4}{\eta(\tau)^{12}}$ , i.e.

$$f(\tau) = f_{\text{even}}(\tau) + f_{\text{odd}}(\tau), \qquad (6.5)$$

where  $f_{\text{even}}$  and  $f_{\text{odd}}$  contain only integral and half-integral powers of q, respectively. Then, we have

$$\phi_{NS-}(\tau,\xi) = \Theta_{D_8}(\tau,z) f_{\text{even}}(\tau) + \Theta_{v+D_8}(\tau,z) f_{\text{odd}}(\tau) \,. \tag{6.6}$$

We recognize this form as the theta decomposition of the Jacobi function  $\phi_{NS-}$  (see appendix A), with

$$f_{\text{even}}(\tau) = \sum_{D \in 2\mathbb{Z}} c_{NS-}(D, [0]) q^{\frac{D}{2}}, \qquad f_{\text{odd}}(\tau) = \sum_{D \in 2\mathbb{Z}+1} c_{NS-}(D, [v]) q^{\frac{D}{2}}.$$
(6.7)

Thus, the multiplicities of an even root  $\gamma = (m, n, \sum_i k_i \theta_i)$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  is given by  $c_{NS-}(-\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle, [0])$  or  $c_{NS-}(-\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle, [v])$ , depending on whether the norm  $\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle = -2mn + \sum_i k_i^2$  is an even or odd integer. Altogether, the multiplicities of even roots are the Fourier coefficients of the function

$$f(\tau) = f_{\text{even}}(\tau) + f_{\text{odd}}(\tau) = \frac{\theta_3(\tau)^4}{\eta(\tau)^{12}} = q^{-1/2} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1+q^{n-1/2})^8}{(1-q^n)^8} = \frac{\eta(\tau)^8}{\eta(2\tau)^8 \eta(\tau/2)^8} \,. \tag{6.8}$$

The Ramond sector of the theory is given by the product of the module of the  $\mathbb{Z}^8$  SVOA corresponding to the coset  $\rho + \mathbb{Z}^8$ , times the Ramond sector for 8 free fermions. The Ramond partition function, therefore, is

$$\phi_R(\tau,\xi) = \frac{\Theta_{\rho+\mathbb{Z}^8}(\tau,\xi)}{\eta(\tau)^8} \times \frac{\theta_2(\tau)^4}{\eta(\tau)^4} = (\Theta_{\rho+D_8}(\tau,\xi) + \Theta_{\rho+\nu+D_8}(\tau,\xi)) \frac{\theta_2(\tau)^4}{\eta(\tau)^{12}}.$$
 (6.9)

The function  $\phi_{R+} = \phi_{R-}$  is obtained simply by dividing  $\phi_R$  by two. The form above is already a theta decomposition, so that the multiplicities of odd roots  $\gamma = (m, n, \rho + \sum_i k_i \theta_i)$ are the Fourier coefficients  $c_{R-}(-\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle, [\rho]) = c_{R-}(-\langle \gamma | \gamma \rangle, [\rho + v])$  of the function

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\theta_2(\tau)^4}{\eta(\tau)^8} = 8\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1+q^n)^8}{(1-q^n)^8} = 8\frac{\eta(2\tau)^8}{\eta(\tau)^{16}}.$$
(6.10)

This analysis shows that the BKM superalgebra associated to  $A_1^8$  is a superalgebra already considered in [5], and discussed also in [6], in section 2 of [7], and in example 13.7 of [8]. Besides the real simple roots described above, the algebra contains imaginary simple roots corresponding to negative integer multiples of the Weyl vector  $-n\hat{\rho}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , all of them with multiplicity 8. The root  $-n\hat{\rho}$  is even or odd depending on n being even or odd. The additive side of the denominator identity, therefore, in this case reads

$$\sum_{\mathbf{w}\in W} \det(\mathbf{w}) e^{-\mathbf{w}(\hat{\rho})} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{-n\mathbf{w}(\hat{\rho})})^{(-1)^{n_8}}.$$
(6.11)

As discussed in [8], the denominator of the BKM algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  admits an analytic continuation to a holomorphic automorphic form for  $\operatorname{Aut}(M)$ , the group of automorphisms of the lattice M which is the maximal even sublattice of the odd unimodular lattice of signature (2, 10). The lattice M has two orbits of primitive norm zero vectors, which are associated to two different expansions of the automorphic form into infinite (Borcherds) products. One of these infinite products is the denominator of the algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  considered in this section, while the other is the denominator of the BKM superalgebra constructed in [48]. In [6], this automorphic form was also interpreted as a non-vanishing function on the moduli space of Enriques surfaces.

#### 7 Conclusions & future directions

In this note we studied some properties of the c = 12 SVOA (holomorphic SCFT)  $F_{24}$  of 24 free fermions, as well as its role as the internal, "compactification" SCFT in a chiral superstring worldsheet theory. The latter system is a super-analogue of Borcherds' method for proving the monstrous moonshine conjectures (see also [31, 48]). Using this construction, we produced a new family of Borcherds-Kac-Moody superalgebras, and their corresponding denominators, labeled by semisimple Lie algebras of dimension 24 and arbitrary rank.

As with our analogous study concerning the c = 12 Conway module  $V^{f\natural}$  [31], this note should be viewed as a warm-up for producing complete (i.e. non-chiral) low-dimensional string compactifications whose internal worldsheet SCFTs are given by products  $V \otimes \overline{W}$  of these c = 12 SVOAs, see [30].<sup>13</sup> Such peculiar critical string vacua have proved relevant for understanding aspects of moonshine, including the genus zero property, when the SVOAs used are moonshine modules; this was illustrated for the Monster case in [42, 43]. We also believe these vacua, viewed as machines to produce explicit BKM algebras, can serve as useful toy systems for exploring and understanding BPS-algebras.

We conclude by highlighting a few outstanding questions raised by our study:

- In section 3, we described how one can obtain  $F_{24}$ , with a choice of supercurrent, from orbifolds of  $V^{fE_8}$ . It would also be interesting to understand what  $\mathcal{N} = 1$ -preserving orbifolds of  $V^{f\natural}$  yield  $F_{24}$  with a fixed choice of superconformal structure. The nontrivial question here is to determine whether one can obtain  $F_{24}$  from an orbifold of  $V^{f\natural}$  by a cyclic group. These orbifolds will be relevant in studying string theoretic dualities (see [42] for analogous appearances of orbifolds of the Monster and Leech VOAs in a string compactification).
- In section 5.4 we determined the product sides of the denominator and super-denominator formulas associated with the super BKM  $\mathfrak{g}$ . In the case of  $g = A_1^8$  we showed that  $\mathfrak{g}$  coincides with a BKM superalgebra already studied by Borcherds [5–8], who was able to determine the additive side of these formulas and explicitly describe the simple roots of the algebra (see section 6). It would be instructive to explicitly determine all simple roots, as well as the additive sides of the denominator identities, for the remaining  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  structures labeled by g. We leave this question for future work.
- A single automorphic form can have distinct expansions at different cusps in moduli space; the expansions can each be (super)denominators for different BKM algebras (as in, e.g., [28]). When embedded into a string theory construction, the BKM algebras are expected to be associated to different perturbative descriptions of the model, and related to one another via dualities [29, 42, 43]. As just mentioned above, in the example of  $g = A_1^8$  the denominator of the BKM superalgebra arises from the expansion along the "level 2 cusp" of a holomorphic automorphic form  $\Psi$ on  $\Gamma \langle SO(2, 10) / (SO(2) \times SO(10))$ , where  $\Gamma = Aut(M)$  (defined below eq. (6.11)), a moduli space closely related to that of the Enriques Calabi-Yau threefold. The same automorphic form  $\Psi$  can also be expanded along its "level 1 cusp" in which case it gives rise to a denominator formula of another BKM-algebra [8]. It would be fascinating to understand if the  $A_1^8$  BKM (or  $F_{24}$ ) played a role in organizing BPS states in a string compactification on the Enriques CY, in some perturbative duality frame, and if it could be related to the BKM at the other cusp of  $\Psi$  by an explicit string duality.
- To expand on the previous point, we further note that the same automorphic form  $\Psi$  arises as the genus one topological amplitude  $F_1$  in the "geometric reduction" of the FHSV model [36], i.e. in type II string theory on the Enriques CY X. In this context  $\Psi$  can be interpreted as a counting rational curves, i.e. Gromov-Witten invariants, on X. The expression for  $\Psi$ , expanded along the level-1 cusp, coincides with the form of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Related examples which are potentially relevant for this investigation are explored in [29, 34].

the gravitational threshold correction of the FHSV-model obtained in [35]. In view of these observations, and their connection to BPS states in string theory on X, it would be interesting to further explore the role of  $\mathfrak{g}$  and  $F_{24}$  in this context, and to connect our BKMs to curve-counts.

- We constructed our BKM algebras from the cohomology of "physical states" in our chiral construction. In a true string theory, one must take the semirelative cohomology; certain variants of this cohomology (e.g., [4]) contain information about anomalies and D-brane states. It would be very interesting to explore these cohomologies in the corresponding non-chiral string constructions.
- More generally, it would be very interesting to better understand the D-brane states in the non-chiral string models and their representations under moonshine groups. See [16] for an exploration of boundary states in a bosonic Monster string theory.
- Though there is not moonshine for  $F_{24}$  as there is for its close cousin  $V^{f\natural}$ , there are numerous modular coincidences among their McKay-Thompson series. It would be fascinating to see if/how the full string theory construction detects the genus zero property for  $V^{f\natural}$ , particularly in contrast with the other c = 12 SVOA compactifications. The BKMs constructed in this note should play a key role in that study.
- Finally, it would be interesting to study the discrete symmetry groups of our BKM algebras. Various sporadic symmetry groups have been shown to stabilize extended superconformal algebras within  $V^{f\natural}$  [11], on the one hand, and certain sub-VOAs of  $V^{\natural}$  [3] on the other. It may be interesting to explore generalizations of both of these constructions for  $F_{24}$ .

## Acknowledgments

It is a pleasure to thank R. Borcherds, S. Carnahan and V. Gritsenko for very helpful email correspondences.

The work of S.M.H. is supported by the National Science and Engineering Council of Canada, an FRQNT new university researchers start-up grant, and the Canada Research Chairs program. NMP was supported by a Sherman Fairchild Postdoctoral Fellowship at Caltech and by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of High Energy Physics, under Award Number de-sc0011632, and is currently supported by the grant NSF PHY-1911298, and the Sivian Fund. D.P. was supported by the Swedish Research Council (Vetenskapsrådet), grant nr. 2018-04760.

## A Multivariable Jacobi forms

In this section we first recall some known facts about multivariable Jacobi forms, and then use them to obtain some useful results about the Fourier coefficients of the partition functions for the  $F_{24}$  SVOA. We follow the treatment in [27, 28], and refer to those articles for proofs and details.

Consider an even positive definite lattice L with bilinear form  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ . A Jacobi form of weight  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and index  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  for L is a holomorphic function  $\varphi(\tau, \xi)$  on  $\mathbb{H} \times (L \otimes \mathbb{C})$  satisfying

$$\varphi\left(\frac{a\tau+b}{c\tau+d},\frac{\xi}{c\tau+d}\right) = (c\tau+d)^k e^{\pi i \frac{mc(\xi,\xi)}{c\tau+d}} \varphi(\tau,\xi) \qquad \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z}), \quad (A.1)$$

$$\varphi(\tau,\xi+\lambda\tau+\mu) = e^{-\pi i m((\lambda,\lambda)\tau+2(\lambda,\xi))}\varphi(\tau,\xi), \qquad (\lambda,\mu) \in L \times L.$$
(A.2)

The Jacobi form is called weak, holomorphic, or cusp, if in its Fourier expansion

$$\varphi(\tau,\xi) = \sum_{\substack{n \in \mathbb{Z} \\ \ell \in L^*}} c(n,\ell) q^n e^{2\pi i (\xi,\ell)} , \qquad q = e^{2\pi i \tau} , \qquad (A.3)$$

the sum over n and  $\ell$  is restricted to, respectively,  $n \ge 0$ , or  $2mn - (\ell, \ell) \ge 0$ , or  $2mn - (\ell, \ell) \ge 0$ . It is called weakly holomorphic if  $\Delta(\tau)^N \varphi(\tau, \xi)$  is a weak Jacobi form for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , with  $\Delta(\tau) = \eta(\tau)^{24}$ . These definitions can be generalized in the obvious way to Jacobi forms with respect to subgroups of  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ . Furthermore, one can consider Jacobi forms of half-integral index, at the cost of introducing some sign in the transformation properties (A.1) and (A.2).

The condition (A.2) implies that the coefficients  $c(n, \ell)$  only depend on  $2mn - (\ell, \ell)$ and on the image of  $\ell$  in  $L^*/mL$ .

According to this definition, 'ordinary' single-variable Jacobi forms of weight k and index m as defined, for example, in [22] are Jacobi forms of the same index and weight for the 1-dimensional even lattice  $L = \sqrt{2\mathbb{Z}}$ . The Jacobi theta functions

$$\theta_{1}(\tau,z) = -\theta \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} = -iq^{\frac{1}{8}} \left( y^{\frac{1}{2}} - y^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right) \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{n})(1-q^{n}y)(1-q^{n}y^{-1}) = -\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{\frac{1}{2}\left(n+\frac{1}{2}\right)^{2}} e^{2\pi i \left(n+\frac{1}{2}\right)\left(z+\frac{1}{2}\right)}$$
(A.4)

$$\theta_2(\tau, z) = \theta \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = q^{\frac{1}{8}} \left( y^{\frac{1}{2}} + y^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right) \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^n) (1 + q^n y) (1 + q^n y^{-1}) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{\frac{1}{2} \left( n + \frac{1}{2} \right)^2} e^{2\pi i \left( n + \frac{1}{2} \right) z}$$
(A.5)

$$\theta_3(\tau, z) = \theta \begin{bmatrix} 0\\0 \end{bmatrix} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n) \left( 1+q^{n-\frac{1}{2}}y \right) \left( 1+q^{n-\frac{1}{2}}y^{-1} \right) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{\frac{1}{2}n^2} e^{2\pi i n z}$$
(A.6)

$$\theta_4(\tau, z) = \theta \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n) \left( 1-q^{n-\frac{1}{2}}y \right) \left( 1-q^{n-\frac{1}{2}}y^{-1} \right) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{\frac{1}{2}n^2} e^{2\pi i n \left(z+\frac{1}{2}\right)}$$
(A.7)

are Jacobi forms of weight 1/2 and index 1/2 for a subgroup of index 3 in  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ .

Let us now show that the functions  $\phi_X(\tau,\xi)$ ,  $X \in \{NS, \tilde{NS}, R, \tilde{R}, NS\pm, R\pm\}$ , defined in section 2.2 are weakly holomorphic Jacobi forms of index m = 1 and weight 0 for the lattice  $L = Q_g^{\vee}$  (the coroot lattice of the algebra g). Let us first notice that all such functions are given by a product  $\prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_+} \theta_i(\tau, (\xi | \alpha))$  of theta functions times modular function that depends on  $\tau$  only.

Given the elliptic properties of the theta functions

$$\theta \begin{bmatrix} a \\ b \end{bmatrix} (\tau, z + n + m\tau) = (-1)^{2an+2bm} e^{-\pi i (m^2 \tau + 2mz)} \theta \begin{bmatrix} a \\ b \end{bmatrix} (\tau, z), \qquad n, m \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad (A.8)$$

where  $a, b \in \left\{0, \frac{1}{2}\right\}$ , we get, for all  $\lambda, \mu \in Q_g^{\vee}$  (coroot lattice)

$$\prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{+}} \theta_{i}(\tau, (\xi + \lambda \tau + \mu | \alpha)) = \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{+}} \theta_{i}(\tau, (\xi | \alpha) + (\lambda | \alpha) \tau + (\mu | \alpha))$$
$$= \pm e^{-\pi i \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta^{+}} ((\lambda | \alpha)^{2} \tau + 2(\lambda | \alpha)(\alpha | \xi))} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{+}} \theta_{i}(\tau, (\xi | \alpha))$$
$$= \pm e^{-\pi i ((\lambda | \lambda) \tau + 2(\lambda | \xi))} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{+}} \theta_{i}(\tau, (\xi | \alpha)), \qquad (A.9)$$

for i = 2, 3, 4, where we used the identity<sup>14</sup>

$$\sum_{\alpha \in \Delta +} (\lambda | \alpha)(\alpha | \mu) = (\lambda | \mu) \qquad \forall \lambda, \mu \in Q_g \otimes \mathbb{R}.$$
(A.10)

This implies that  $\prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^+} \theta_i(\tau, (\xi | \alpha))$  has the elliptic properties of a Jacobi form of index 1 for the even lattice  $Q_g^{\vee}$ . The general theory of Jacobi forms for lattices tells us that the Jacobi forms  $\phi_X(\tau, \xi)$  admits a Fourier expansion of the form (2.30), where the coefficients  $c_X(n, w)$  only depend on

$$D \equiv D(n,w) = 2n - (w|w), \qquad (A.11)$$

and on the class [w] of w in the quotient  $P_g/i(Q_g^{\vee})$ , possibly up to a sign. We will sometimes use the notation c(D, [w]) to stress this dependence. The sign is easily recovered by noticing that, by definition, all Fourier coefficients  $c_X(n, w)$  are non negative, except when  $X = \tilde{NS}$ , where the sign is  $(-1)^{2n}$ , with  $n \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ .

When  $X = NS - \text{ or } R \pm$ , the sum over n in the Fourier expansion is bounded by  $n \ge 0$ . Therefore, if  $c(D, [w]) \ne 0$  then for all  $w' \in w + Q_g^{\vee}$  we must have  $2n \equiv D + (w'|w') \ge 0$ . If m([w]) is the minimal squared length of a vector in the coset  $w + Q_g^{\vee}$ , we get the bound

$$c(D, [w]) \neq 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad D \ge -m([w]).$$
 (A.12)

This bound can be also written as

$$c(n,w) \neq 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad (w|w) \le 2n + m([w]),$$
 (A.13)

which shows that for each given n there are only a finite number of vectors  $w \in P_g$  for which  $c(n, w) \neq 0$ .

The fact that the coefficients c(D, [w]) only depend on the discriminant D and on  $[w] \in P_g/i(Q_q^{\vee})$  implies that the Jacobi functions admit a theta decomposition

$$\phi_X(\tau,\xi) = \sum_{[w] \in P_g/i(Q_g^{\vee})} \sum_D \sum_{w' \in w + Q_g^{\vee}} c_X(D,[w]) q^{\frac{D + (w'|w')}{2}} e^{2\pi i(\xi|w')}$$
(A.14)

$$= \sum_{[w] \in P_g/i(Q_g^{\vee})} h_{X,[w]}(\tau) \Theta_{w+Q_g^{\vee}}(\tau,\xi) , \qquad (A.15)$$

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$ Once again, the relative normalization of the two sides of this identity depends on our choice (2.5) of Killing form.

where

$$\Theta_{w+Q_g^{\vee}}(\tau,\xi) = \sum_{w' \in w+Q_g^{\vee}} q^{\frac{(w'|w')}{2}} e^{2\pi i(\xi|w')}$$
(A.16)

is the theta series of the coset  $w + Q_q^{\vee}$ , and

$$h_{X,[w]}(\tau) = \sum_{D} c_X(D,[w]) q^{D/2}, \qquad (A.17)$$

is a weakly holomorphic modular form containing all non-trivial information about the Fourier coefficients  $c_X$ .

In some cases, the functions  $\phi_X(\tau, z)$  are Jacobi forms with respect to a lattice that is 'finer' than  $Q^{\vee}$ , and this leads to more stringent conditions on their Fourier coefficients. In particular, the coefficients  $c_{NS}(n, w)$  and  $c_R(n, w)$  are nonzero only for  $w \in Q_g \subseteq P_g$  and  $w \in \rho + Q_g \subseteq P_g$ , respectively. If the lattice  $\tilde{Q}_g$  generated by  $\rho$  and  $Q_g$  is a proper sublattice of the weight lattice  $P_g$ , then  $\phi_{NS}(\tau, z)$  and  $\phi_R(\tau, z)$  are Jacobi forms with respect to any lattice  $\tilde{Q}_g^{\vee}$  that is even and contained in the dual  $(\tilde{Q}_g)^*$ , so that  $\tilde{Q}_g^{\vee} \supseteq Q^{\vee}$ . This means that  $c_X(n, w)$  only depends on the discriminant 2n - (w|w) and on the coset of  $w + \tilde{Q}_g^{\vee}$ , rather than  $w + Q^{\vee}$ . Correspondingly, the theta decomposition (A.15) becomes

$$\phi_X(\tau,\xi) = \sum_{[w]\in \tilde{Q}_g/\tilde{Q}_g^{\vee}} h_{X,[w]}(\tau)\Theta_{w+\tilde{Q}_g^{\vee}}(\tau,\xi) \,. \tag{A.18}$$

For example, when  $g = (A_1)^{\oplus 8}$ , one has  $Q_g = \mathbb{Z}^{\oplus 8}$ ,  $P_g = \left(\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}\right)^{\oplus 8}$  and  $Q_g^{\vee} = (2\mathbb{Z})^{\oplus 8}$ , with  $\rho = \left(\frac{1}{2}, \ldots, \frac{1}{2}\right) \in P_g$ . In this case, the lattice  $\tilde{Q}_g = Q_g \cup (\rho + Q_g)$  is given by  $\mathbb{Z}^{\oplus 8} \cup \left(\frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}\right)^{\oplus 8}$ . The dual of  $\tilde{Q}_g$  is

$$\tilde{Q}_g^* = \left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_8) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\oplus 8} \mid \sum_i x_i \in 2\mathbb{Z} \right\},\tag{A.19}$$

which is an even lattice (isomorphic to the  $D_8$  lattice), so that we can set  $\tilde{Q}_g^{\vee} := \tilde{Q}_g^*$ . Thus,  $c_{NS}(n,w)$  and  $c_R(n,w)$  depend only on 2n - (w|w) and on the class  $[w] \in Q_g/\tilde{Q}_g^{\vee} \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$ (NS sector) or  $[w] \in (\rho + Q_g)/\tilde{Q}_g^{\vee}$  (R sector). By comparison, one has  $Q_g/Q_g^{\vee} = \mathbb{Z}_2^8$ , so that, just for the NS sector, using the most naive constraints one needs to compute the coefficients for  $2^8$  different classes rather than just 2.

# **B** Details about cohomology

In this note, we follow a chiral version of the construction of the relative cohomology of physical string states. The BRST charge is given by

$$Q = \sum_{m} c_{m} L_{-m}^{m} + \sum_{r} \gamma_{r} G_{-r}^{m}$$

$$+ \sum_{m,n} \frac{1}{2} (n-m) : b_{-n-m} c_{n} c_{m} : + \sum_{m,r} \left[ \frac{1}{2} (2r-m) : \beta_{-m-r} c_{m} \gamma_{r} : - : b_{-m} \gamma_{m-r} \gamma_{r} : \right] + ac_{0}$$
(B.2)

where  $a = -\frac{1}{2}$  in the NS sectors and  $a = -\frac{5}{8}$  in the Ramond sector. Relative cohomology (which is equivalent to the physically relevant semirelative cohomology for a non-chiral theory) is given by considering *Q*-closed states in the kernel of  $b_0$ , modulo states of the form  $|\chi\rangle \sim Q|\lambda\rangle$  with  $|\lambda\rangle$  in ker  $b_0$ .

As discussed in the main text, the cohomology classes for zero momentum have to be treated separately from the nonzero momentum states, but are amenable to a direct computation using standard techniques and explicit representatives.

The zero momentum states in the -1-picture with  $L_0 = 0$  are obtained by acting by any operator of weight 1/2 on the ground state  $e^{-\phi}c_1|0\rangle$ . States with integral  $L_0$  eigenvalue are automatically included by the GSO projection. There are the following possibilities:

• Suppose the internal SVOA V has N states  $v^a$ , a = 1, ..., N, of weight 1/2 in the NS sector. Then, we have N states

$$v^a_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|0\rangle, \qquad a=1,\ldots,N,$$

with ghost number 1.

• There are two states

$$\psi_{-1/2}^{\mu} e^{-\phi} c_1 |0\rangle, \qquad \mu \in \{+, -\}$$

again with ghost number 1.

• One state

$$\gamma_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|0\rangle$$

with ghost number 2.

• One state

$$\beta_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|0\rangle$$

with ghost number 0.

Notice that

$$\{Q, c_n\} = \sum_m \frac{1}{2}(n-2m) : c_{n-m}c_m : -\sum_r : \gamma_{n-r}\gamma_r :$$
(B.3)

and in particular

$$\{Q, c_1\} = \sum_{m>0} (1-2m)c_{1-m}c_m - \sum_r : \gamma_{1-r}\gamma_r :$$
(B.4)

With non-zero null momentum  $k, k^2 = 0$ , the BRST variation of  $\beta_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$  is proportional to  $k_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$ , while the BRST variation of  $\psi^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$  is proportional to  $k^{\mu}\gamma_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$ ;  $v^a_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$  and  $\gamma_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$  are always Q-closed (the latter is obvious, since there are no states with ghost number 3). Therefore, when  $k \neq 0$ , we have N + 2 closed states  $(v^a_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle, a = 1, \ldots, N, \gamma_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$  and one linear combination of  $\psi^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$ ), but two of them are Q-exact  $(\gamma_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$  and the linear combination of  $\psi^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$ ), so we are left with N classes in  $H^1(k)_{p=-1}$  with representatives  $v^a_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|k\rangle$ . When k = 0, all these states are Q-closed, and they therefore

correspond to distinct cohomology classes. The dimensions of the non-zero cohomology spaces are therefore

$$\dim H^0(k=0)_{p=-1} = 1,$$
  
$$\dim H^1(k=0)_{p=-1} = N+2,$$
  
$$\dim H^2(k=0)_{p=-1} = 1.$$

Let us now consider the Ramond sector. Let us assume that the SVOA V has  $K_+$ (respectively,  $K_-$ ) Ramond states  $u^{i+}$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, K_+$  (respectively,  $u^{i-}$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, K_-$ ) with weight 1/2 and V-fermion number  $(-1)^{F_V}$  equal to +1 (respectively, -1). The Ramond sector of the  $V^{X,\psi}$  'space-time' vertex algebra contains two ground states  $|k,\pm\rangle$  with momentum k where the sign denotes space-time spin (and the fermion number). Then, in the (-1/2)-picture, the k = 0 states with total fermion number  $(-1)^{F_{\text{tot}}} = +1$  and in ker  $b_0 \cap \ker \beta_0$  are:

•  $e^{-\phi/2}c_1|0, u^{i+}, +\rangle, i = 1, \dots, K_+$ 

• 
$$e^{-\phi/2}c_1|0, u^{i-}, -\rangle, i = 1, \dots, K_-$$

all of them with ghost number 1. If we drop the requirement that the states are in ker  $\beta_0$ , then we have states

$$\gamma_0^{n-1} n e^{-\phi/2} c_1 |0, u^{i+}, (-1)^{n-1}\rangle, \qquad i = 1, \dots, K_+$$
 (B.5)

$$\gamma_0^{n-1} e^{-\phi/2} c_1 |0, u^{i-}, (-1)^n \rangle, \qquad i = 1, \dots, K_-$$
(B.6)

for each ghost number  $n \ge 1$ . There are no states with ghost number  $n \le 0$ .

For ghost number 1, one has

$$Qe^{-\phi/2}c_1|0, u^{i\pm}, \pm\rangle = \gamma_0 G_0^m e^{-\phi/2}c_1|0, u^{i\pm}, \pm\rangle.$$
(B.7)

Actually, for all the matter SVOA we are considering, the Ramond ground states are all contained in ker  $G_0^m$ , so that all the states are *Q*-closed and represent  $K^+ + K^-$  distinct cohomology classes (since there are no states with ghost number 0, there cannot be exact states at ghost number 1).

At higher ghost number, we use

$$[Q, \gamma_n] = \sum_{r} \frac{1}{2} (3r - n) : c_{n-r} \gamma_r :$$
(B.8)

and in particular

$$[Q, \gamma_0] = \sum_r \frac{3}{2}r : c_{-r}\gamma_r :$$
(B.9)

to conclude that

$$Q\gamma_0^{n-1}e^{-\phi/2}c_1|0, u^{i\pm}, \pm (-1)^{n-1}\rangle = \gamma_0^{n-1}Qe^{-\phi/2}c_1|0, u^{i\pm}, \pm (-1)^{n-1}\rangle = 0.$$
(B.10)

Thus, all cohomology groups of degree  $n \ge 1$  are isomorphic to each other, with the isomorphism given by  $\gamma_0$ .

In the -3/2-picture, the k = 0 states with total fermion number  $(-1)^{F_{\text{tot}}} = +1$  and in ker  $b_0$  are:

- $\beta_0^n u_{-1/2}^{i+} e^{-3\phi/2} c_1 |0, -\rangle, \ i = 1, \dots, K_+$
- $\beta_0^n u_{-1/2}^{i-} e^{-3\phi/2} c_1 |0,+\rangle, \ i = 1, \dots, K_-$

for all  $n \ge 0$  (note that they have the opposite space-time spin, because  $e^{-3\phi/2}$  and  $e^{-\phi/2}$  have opposite fermion number). These states have ghost number 1 - n.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- V. Anagiannis and M.C.N. Cheng, TASI Lectures on Moonshine, PoS TASI2017 (2018) 010 [arXiv:1807.00723] [INSPIRE].
- [2] V. Anagiannis, M.C.N. Cheng, J.F.R. Duncan and R. Volpato, Vertex operator superalgebra/sigma model correspondences: The four-torus case, arXiv:2009.00186 [INSPIRE].
- [3] J.-B. Bae, J.A. Harvey, K. Lee, S. Lee and B.C. Rayhaun, *Conformal Field Theories with Sporadic Group Symmetry*, arXiv:2002.02970 [INSPIRE].
- [4] N. Berkovits and B. Zwiebach, On the picture dependence of Ramond-Ramond cohomology, Nucl. Phys. B 523 (1998) 311 [hep-th/9711087] [INSPIRE].
- [5] R.E. Borcherds, The monster Lie algebra, Adv. Math. 83 (1990) 30.
- [6] R.E. Borcherds, The moduli space of Enriques surfaces and the fake Monster Lie superalgebra, Topology 35 (1996) 699.
- [7] R.E. Borcherds, Monstrous moonshine and monstrous Lie superalgebras, Invent. Math. 109 (1992) 405.
- [8] R.E. Borcherds, Automorphic forms with singularities on Grassmannians, Invent. Math. 132 (1998) 491 [alg-geom/9609022] [INSPIRE].
- [9] R.E. Borcherds, Automorphism groups of Lorentzian lattices, J. Algebra 111 (1987) 133.
- [10] R.E. Borcherds, Lattices like the Leech lattice, J. Algebra 130 (1990) 219.
- [11] M.C.N. Cheng, X. Dong, J.F.R. Duncan, S. Harrison, S. Kachru and T. Wrase, Mock Modular Mathieu Moonshine Modules, Res. Math. Sci. 2 (2015) 13 [arXiv:1406.5502] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M.C.N. Cheng, J.F.R. Duncan, S.M. Harrison and S. Kachru, Equivariant K3 Invariants, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 11 (2017) 41 [arXiv:1508.02047] [INSPIRE].
- [13] M.C.N. Cheng and E.P. Verlinde, Wall Crossing, Discrete Attractor Flow, and Borcherds Algebra, SIGMA 4 (2008) 068 [arXiv:0806.2337] [INSPIRE].
- [14] J.H. Conway and S.P. Norton, Monstrous Moonshine, Bull. London Math. Soc. 11 (1979) 308 [INSPIRE]

- [15] T. Creutzig, J.F.R. Duncan and W. Riedler, Self-Dual Vertex Operator Superalgebras and Superconformal Field Theory, J. Phys. A 51 (2018) 034001 [arXiv:1704.03678] [INSPIRE].
- [16] B. Craps, M.R. Gaberdiel and J.A. Harvey, Monstrous branes, Commun. Math. Phys. 234 (2003) 229 [hep-th/0202074] [INSPIRE].
- [17] R. Dijkgraaf, E.P. Verlinde and H.L. Verlinde, Counting dyons in N = 4 string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 484 (1997) 543 [hep-th/9607026] [INSPIRE].
- [18] J.F.R. Duncan, Super-moonshine for Conway's largest sporadic group, Duke Math. J. 139 (2007) 255.
- [19] J.F.R. Duncan and S. Mack-Crane, The Moonshine Module for Conway's Group, SIGMA 3 (2015) e10 [arXiv:1409.3829] [INSPIRE].
- [20] J.F.R. Duncan and S. Mack-Crane, Derived Equivalences of K3 Surfaces and Twined Elliptic Genera, Res. Math. Sci. 3 (2016) 1 [arXiv:1506.06198] [INSPIRE].
- [21] J.F.R. Duncan, M.J. Griffin and K. Ono, *Moonshine*, *Res. Math. Sci.* 2 (2015) 11 [arXiv:1411.6571] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Eichler and D. Zagier, The Theory of Jacobi Forms, in Progress in Mathematics 55, Birkhäuser, Boston MA U.S.A. (1985).
- [23] J.M. Figueroa-O'Farrill and T. Kimura, *The BRST Cohomology of the NSR String:* Vanishing and 'No Ghost' Theorems, Commun. Math. Phys. **124** (1989) 105 [INSPIRE].
- [24] D. Gaiotto, T. Johnson-Freyd and E. Witten, A Note On Some Minimally Supersymmetric Models In Two Dimensions, arXiv:1902.10249 [INSPIRE].
- [25] D. Gaiotto and T. Johnson-Freyd, Mock modularity and a secondary elliptic genus, arXiv:1904.05788 [INSPIRE].
- [26] P. Goddard and D.I. Olive, Kac-Moody Algebras, Conformal Symmetry and Critical Exponents, Nucl. Phys. B 257 (1985) 226 [INSPIRE].
- [27] V.A. Gritsenko, Fourier-Jacobi functions in n variables, Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningr. Otd. Mat. Inst. 168 (1988) 32.
- [28] V. Gritsenko, 24 faces of the Borcherds modular form  $\Phi_{12}$ , arXiv:1203.6503 [INSPIRE].
- [29] S.M. Harrison, S. Kachru, N.M. Paquette, R. Volpato and M. Zimet, *Heterotic sigma models* on  $T^8$  and the Borcherds automorphic form  $\Phi_{12}$ , *JHEP* **10** (2017) 121 [arXiv:1610.00707] [INSPIRE].
- [30] S.M. Harrison, N.M. Paquette, D. Persson and R. Volpato, *BPS-algebras in 2D string theory*, in preparation.
- [31] S.M. Harrison, N.M. Paquette and R. Volpato, A Borcherds-Kac-Moody Superalgebra with Conway Symmetry, Commun. Math. Phys. 370 (2019) 539 [arXiv:1803.10798] [INSPIRE].
- [32] J.A. Harvey and G.W. Moore, Algebras, BPS states, and strings, Nucl. Phys. B 463 (1996) 315 [hep-th/9510182] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J.A. Harvey and G.W. Moore, On the algebras of BPS states, Commun. Math. Phys. 197 (1998) 489 [hep-th/9609017] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J.A. Harvey and G.W. Moore, Conway Subgroup Symmetric Compactifications of Heterotic String, J. Phys. A 51 (2018) 354001 [arXiv:1712.07986] [INSPIRE].
- [35] J.A. Harvey and G.W. Moore, Exact gravitational threshold correction in the FHSV model, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 2329 [hep-th/9611176] [INSPIRE].

- [36] A. Klemm and M. Mariño, Counting BPS states on the enriques Calabi-Yau, Commun. Math. Phys. 280 (2008) 27 [hep-th/0512227] [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Kapustin, R. Thorngren, A. Turzillo and Z. Wang, Fermionic Symmetry Protected Topological Phases and Cobordisms, JHEP 12 (2015) 052 [arXiv:1406.7329] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Kapustin and R. Thorngren, Fermionic SPT phases in higher dimensions and bosonization, JHEP 10 (2017) 080 [arXiv:1701.08264] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Karch, D. Tong and C. Turner, A Web of 2d Dualities: Z<sub>2</sub> Gauge Fields and Arf Invariants, SciPost Phys. 7 (2019) 007 [arXiv:1902.05550] [INSPIRE].
- [40] B.H. Lian and G.J. Zuckerman, BRST Cohomology of the Supervirasoro Algebras, Commun. Math. Phys. 125 (1989) 301 [INSPIRE].
- [41] B.H. Lian and G.J. Zuckerman, New perspectives on the BRST algebraic structure of string theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 154 (1993) 613 [hep-th/9211072] [INSPIRE].
- [42] N.M. Paquette, D. Persson and R. Volpato, Monstrous BPS-Algebras and the Superstring Origin of Moonshine, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 10 (2016) 433 [arXiv:1601.05412]
   [INSPIRE].
- [43] N.M. Paquette, D. Persson and R. Volpato, BPS Algebras, Genus Zero, and the Heterotic Monster, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 414001 [arXiv:1701.05169] [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Persson and R. Volpato, Fricke S-duality in CHL models, JHEP 12 (2015) 156 [arXiv:1504.07260] [INSPIRE].
- [45] D. Persson and R. Volpato, *Dualities in CHL-Models*, J. Phys. A 51 (2018) 164002
   [arXiv:1704.00501] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J. Polchinski, String theory. Volume 1: An introduction to the Bosonic String, in Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1998) [INSPIRE].
- [47] U. Ray, Automorphic Forms and Lie Superalgebras, in Algebra and Applications 5, Springer, Dordrecht The Netherlands (2007).
- [48] N.R. Scheithauer, The Fake monster superalgebra, Adv. Math. 151 (2000) 226 [math.QA/9905113] [INSPIRE].
- [49] T. Senthil, Symmetry Protected Topological phases of Quantum Matter, Ann. Rev. Condensed Matter Phys. 6 (2015) 299 [arXiv:1405.4015] [INSPIRE].
- [50] A. Taormina and K. Wendland, The Conway Moonshine Module is a Reflected K3 Theory, arXiv:1704.03813 [INSPIRE].
- [51] J.G. Thompson, Finite groups and modular functions, Bull. London Math. Soc. 11 (1979) 347.
- [52] J.G. Thompson, Some numerology between the Fischer-Griess Monster and the elliptic modular function, Bull. London Math. Soc. 11 (1979) 352.
- [53] D. Tong, Lectures on the Quantum Hall Effect, arXiv: 1606.06687 [INSPIRE].
- [54] D. Tong and C. Turner, Notes on 8 Majorana Fermions, SciPost Phys. Lect. Notes 14 (2020)
   1 [arXiv:1906.07199] [INSPIRE].
- [55] J. Troost, Lie Algebra Fermions, J. Phys. A 53 (2020) 425401 [arXiv:2004.01055]
   [INSPIRE].